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Tuesday, December 8, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:02 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Today is the second day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application, EB-2009-0096.  Today we will continue with the witness panel dealing with Green Energy Plan issues.

We will, also, off the top, deal with the confidentiality issue.  Before we do that, are there any other preliminary matters?

No?  Mr. Rogers.
Submissions by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Nowina.  Members of the Board, we have been working assiduously to try and limit the problem presented by these confidential filings, and I can tell the Board that I think that with respect to panel 1, we can proceed without going in camera.

I received a list of documents that those who were interested wished to examine on, and they have either been -- they are, I think, inoffensive or have been redacted.  So we can deal with panel 1 without going in camera.  Panel 2, however, is a different matter.

I am going to ask this morning that the Board grant the confidential protection for the documents which have been filed in confidence.

I have a summary of those documents, in accordance with your rules, to provide this morning - I have given a copy to my friend - which outlines the documents and summarizes what's contained in them.

I don't know that anyone objects to the confidentiality being maintained.  So far as I'm aware, no one does.

I can tell the Board, as well, that no one wishes to cross-examine on the confidential documents, with the exception of Mr. Thompson's client and Mr. DeVellis on behalf of his client.

With respect to Mr. DeVellis, I believe that he gave us some excerpts that he wished to cross-examine on.  These deal, I believe, with panel 2.  I believe we can proceed with his cross-examination without going in camera, because the only document that contains forward-looking information was quite easily redactable, and we have done that.

Mr. Thompson's issues for his client, there are 18 or 20 pages or so of material that he wished to refer to, as we understand it.  This contains sensitive forward-looking information, which we believe would not be appropriate to be revealed in the public record, and so, with respect to those documents, we would ask that an in camera session be undertaken when panel 2 comes.

Now, as the summary of confidential documents will explain to you - and there are a great many of them.  A lot was filed here.  If I could wind the clock back, I would, but I cannot - a lot was filed in confidence.  Most of the information contained in those filings deals with submissions to the Hydro One board of directors or committees of the board of directors.

It contains information which really is private to the corporation to allow it to plan properly, although they have given documents up quite willingly in this case.

Moreover, it contains information which relates to non-regulated affiliates, to the transmission system, to securities interests and concerns, in addition to which much of the material talks about a forward-looking period well beyond the test period.  And all of this, I am advised, cannot or ought not to be produced in the public domain.

The production of this confidential material, I know, creates a colossal problem for the Board.  I am aware of that, and I want the Board to understand that it also creates great difficulty for my client.

And I can tell you, as a matter of fact, there is a great deal of tension within the organization as to what ought to be produced in these proceedings.  Those whose primary responsibility within the company with respect to securities issues and the legal department have one view.  The regulatory group that has responsibility for dealing with you has another view.  And there is a tension concerning that within the corporation.

That's to be -- I think it is quite understandable that that would happen.  And the regulatory faction, of course, urges full disclosure.  Much of this material really is very helpful to the applicant's case, whereas the legal and the securities people within the company and their external advisors are cautious about releasing this information, because they're afraid it might get into the public domain.  And as we know, that is a possibility now.

So I would like to -- I went back to first principles when I was thinking about this yesterday, and I would like to, dealing with this confidentiality issue, just go back a little bit in history, if I could.  I would like to refer the Board to a decision where this client, Hydro One, first dealt with this confidentiality issue, I believe, before this Board, and this was a case EB-2007-0681.

I am going to just refer to an excerpt from that decision for you.  I think Mr. Sommerville was a member of that panel.  But can I just give a copy of this to the Board, just so you can follow it with me?

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like that marked as an exhibit, Madam Chair?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, let's do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Thiessen will also bring up the summary of confidential documents that Mr. Rogers provided us, and we will call that summary Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  SUMMARY OF CONFIDENTIAL DOCUMENTS.

MR. MILLAR:  And the excerpt from EB-2007-0681 will be K2.2.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  EXCERPT FROM EB-2007-0681.

MR. ROGERS:  I've got copies of these.  Do you want them now?

[Documents passed to people present]


MR. ROGERS:  Now, I have highlighted this for you.  This was a case concerning 2008 rates that took place back in 2008.  And, at that time, just the history here, very briefly, was that I think it was Mr. Kaiser was questioning the panel about the business planning processes within Hydro One, and so on, and he asked for monthly statements, which the witnesses had described, which were provided to the board of directors.

And at that time, it was one of the first times this company had been before the Board and there was some quite intensive scrutiny given to the business planning process within this company.

And it was important to the applicant that the Board understood the planning process that it undertakes and the scrutiny that it gives its costs before coming before you, and so this material was provided to the Board on a confidential basis, these monthly reports.

It became something of an issue in the case, but what I would like to refer you to is this excerpt on page 5 from your reasons for decision dated December 18th, 2008, which I think sets out the test here for the filing of confidential information.

And there the Board said this:
"The Board is mindful of Hydro One's status as a reporting issuer subject to regulation by the Ontario Securities Commission respecting public disclosure of Quarterly Management Reports. However, this does not absolve the company in certain circumstances from having to produce on the public record such reports, with the leave of or by order of the Board."


And this is the part that I wish to emphasize, quote:
"The circumstances will indeed be exceptional and where the information is critical to the determination of a matter and cannot otherwise be reasonably adduced from other direct or indirect information in the examination process.  Again, the matter is case and issue specific."


So this material which my client has actually filed already in this case really ought only to be produced when there are exceptional circumstances, and where the information is critical and cannot be obtained through other sources.

Panel 2 will consist of witnesses, including Mr. Struthers, the chief financial officer of the company.  The company has gone through all kind of stakeholdering processes with its stakeholders, and this information is readily available through Mr. Struthers when he testifies.

Now, I am not asking you to take back the documents that have been given in confidence.  I just wish the Board to be aware of what I believe is the appropriate test that you have established concerning production of confidential information.


Now, with that just brief background, all I am asking the Board to do is this.  First of all, I would ask you, please, to agree that all of the documents filed by the company in confidence are confidential documents, and should be treated as such and kept confidential.

Secondly, as I have said, certain of the documents Mr. Thompson pulled out for panel 1, we don't have a problem with.  And I have copies of those here and I can distribute those, and we can proceed with panel 1 without going in camera.

No one else has any questions on the confidential information other than Mr. Thompson's client and Mr. DeVellis.

With respect to panel 2, I believe one -- Mr. DeVellis had a couple of pages -- I think we can deal with them in public -- with redactions in the case of one document.  So I don't believe that is an issue really, a serious problem for you.  Mr. Thompson gave us a number of pages, as I say; think there are 18 or 20 pages, and we looked at them carefully last night and I -- I regret to say that I do not believe these can be redacted sufficiently and that if they are to be used in a cross-examination, I ask that the Board use an in camera session to do that.

They contain forward-looking information.  They deal with regulated and unregulated subsidiaries of the company.  They deal with the transmission company and its ongoing forward-looking information.  And they concern in some cases the debt obligations of the company as well.  Mr. Struthers will be here to answer questions about these issues, but if we get into this foreign-looking -- sorry, forward-looking information and so on, I ask that it be done in camera.

The other problem, of course, is that when you -- and I know it was my suggestion, but when you take excerpts out and then conduct the examination solely with those excerpts, you deny the witness the opportunity to put them in context by referring to other documents within the big bundle of documents which has been produced.  And that's why I fear an in camera session will be required on panel 2.

Now, the suggestion I have is this, that when panel 2 comes, we have an in camera session for, I think, only Mr. Thompson's client.  It's the only one that has any questions that would be confidential.

What we did in the last transmission case -- and I think Ms. Chapman, you might have been a member of that panel -- was that we had an in camera session and then over the evening the company reviewed the transcript to see whether there were in fact any sensitive, offensive information that would offend the -- their concern about disclosure, and in that case I think, because counsel were quite careful and discreet, we almost -- there were very few if any redactions, and I think the entire transcript actually was then public.  If counsel are careful, we can avoid this problem.

So that is my suggestion in this case, that we have an in camera session with panel 2, with respect to Mr. Thompson's client.

My client will review the transcript afterwards, and I am hoping that all of it or most of it can be made public.

I think those are my submissions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  So Mr. Rogers, the last request that for panel 2, we have an in camera session for Mr. Thompson's client, given our decision yesterday, Mr. Thompson's client seems to be at a bit of a handicap.  So what would you -- what remedy would you suggest for that?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, panel 2 will be here on Thursday.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand from Mr. Thompson that his partner would be here on Thursday, as I understand it, and that he could brief him --

MS. NOWINA:  So CME --


 MR. ROGERS:  -- satisfactorily.

MS. NOWINA:  -- will have representation on Thursday for the in camera session?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  My understanding is that Hydro One's acceptable -- accepts that Mr. DeRose can ask these questions, so that, I think, that solves that problem.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

And Mr. DeVellis, are you comfortable that your cross-examination can be handled in a public session?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe what Mr. Rogers said, he will redact the documents.  I think I had -- the excerpts I had given to Mr. Rogers last night was out of an abundance of caution.  I think I probably could have proceeded even if they weren't redacted, but I think it will be -- I think we can work it out with Mr. Rogers.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Does anyone else have any comments on Mr. Rogers' suggestion?

MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, could I just speak --


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- to it briefly?  As I indicated yesterday, I believe that the Board should have everything before it that Ontario's -- Hydro One's directors had in connection with this application, and so the filing of the confidential documents, we support.

There might have been a misunderstanding between Mr. Rogers and myself with respect to these pages that I gave him.  There were five, 10, I think about 18 pages out of just three documents that I listed that we might refer to, and my hope was that the company would redact those 18 pages and then I can determine whether we would even need to go into camera from those redactions.

I think Mr. Rogers -- because I appreciate those pages have some forward-looking information on them, and I certainly didn't intend to ask any questions with respect to that forward-looking information.

I don't have any problem with the process we followed in the previous case where you go in camera and we examine, with everybody attempting to be careful not to cross the line, but I had understood from the Board's letter to Hydro One that it wanted as much of the information on the public record as is possible.  So that's what I was trying to do with the -- the 18 pages that we had identified as being pages that we may have some questions on.  I don't know if that helps, but that was...

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, was there an attempt made to redact those 18 pages?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  It was looked at.  Yes.  The problem is that -- I can't remember exactly what these 18 pages were now.  We looked at so many pages last night, but the problem is that they're taken out of context in a way.  You have to be very careful about that.

And we just didn't think that they could be redacted in a way that gave the whole story, so that's why we didn't do it.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?

MR. MILLAR:  Only briefly, Madam Chair.  Staff certainly appreciates when Hydro One goes to the effort to provide redacted copies of documents.  It's, in Staff's view, it is always preferable that we have everything on the public record -- sorry, not everything; as much as -- as possible.

And I haven't necessarily looked at these 18 pages.  I am not aware of what they are.  It strikes me in reading some of the documents that we know much of it could be redacted, only because we have been able to talk about so much of it on the public record.

That being said, these particular 18 pages, there may -- there may well be issues there where you can't simply excise a number here and a number there, and as Mr. Rogers says, if you take out too much it alters the meaning of the document and might create the wrong impression or something like that.  That may well be possible.

So we don't have any specific objections to the proposal, but we do encourage Hydro One and the parties to continue to find every way possible to get as much as possible on the public record.

MR. ROGERS:  Now that, you know, the parties are informed about what is in these documents, they can, I assume, can ask questions of Mr. Struthers, armed with what they know are in the documents, and he can answer them or not or claim privilege on them or not.  You know, I guess he can answer them in camera.  So the information will be available to the Board.

I am just hoping that with some discretion, it ought not to be necessary to preclude most of the transcript from the public record.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I think the Board will adjourn for about 10 minutes to make our decision.  Before we do, I will ask Ms. Chaplin or Mr. Sommerville if they have any questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yeah.  I have a question, Mr. Rogers, relating to the statement that stands at the beginning of each of these productions, which is the forward-looking statements and information page that is in effect, a page on two sides, two-sided printing, that cautions the reader explicitly about the caution that the reader ought to take in applying any of the information that follows.

What I would like to know is when that gets attached.  When does that get on this document?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.

I am instructed, Mr. Sommerville, that this document, I think it emanates from the legal department within Hydro One, and it is put on the document before it is produced publicly to you -- or produced privately to you.  And maybe other agencies too, I don't know.  But, in your case, that's when it is attached.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is not produced as part of the presentation or the distribution of materials to the Board?

MR. ROGERS:  To the Hydro board?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it is when this is sort of extracted from the minutes, if you like, from the board meetings, it then -- for any other purpose, this document gets attached to it?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Any other purpose that would involve public disclosure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin?

MS. NOWINA:  We will adjourn for a few minutes.

I'm sorry.  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  While we're talking about confidential material, I think there may be an outstanding production from yesterday on confidential material.  I think when Mr. Thompson -- I was just looking at the transcript.  When he started speaking yesterday, he talked about material that was presented to the board of directors in November and his conversation with the company that they would be producing it.

I haven't heard when or if we're going to receive that information.  It is pages 5 and 6 of the transcript from yesterday.

MS. NOWINA:  It was not an undertaking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  It just sort of hangs out there.  It is a request -- Mr. Thompson talks about asking for it, and then being told that it would be produced if he requested it at the outset of the hearing, and that is just sort of left there, because we went on to other issues.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, do you recall this?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I do.  And the history here is that Mr. Thompson, I think, has spoken to representatives of my client about producing the November version of the reports to the Board which already were filed in confidence.  It is an update.

I believe the company said that if he requested it in the hearing, they would produce it.  As a matter of fact, I have copies of this material available.

However, circumstances have changed a little bit, but I just -- I think my client is prepared to produce this in confidence if the Board wishes.  I would like, however, to advise you that there really is nothing in it, I don't believe, that you don't already have before you in the application.  And my understanding is that the history and the progression is as follows:  The business plan forming -- on which this application is based, was filed with the Ontario board of directors in June.  That material has been filed publicly -- or, sorry, privately, confidentially.

After that, the Distribution System code was amended, which changed responsibility of the allocation of costs between generators' and the distributors' customers, as I understand it.

So costs were shifted from the generator to the distribution system customers.

Modifications were, therefore, required in the planned application before you, and those changes were made and are incorporated in the material before you.

So the application does contain the changes that the System code amendments drove as compared to the information that was given to the Hydro board in June.

In November, there -- a further business plan was presented to the Hydro One board which made -- incorporated these amendments to the application, which already are encapsulated in the application you have.  So this update really brought the Hydro One board up to speed with what you have, if I understand this correctly.

So there is really nothing new in this that you don't already have before you.  I have copies here.  My client is willing to provide it on a confidential basis, if the Board orders.

I just fear we're going to then get into a whole other issue, again, I guess about redactions, and so on, but there it is.

MS. NOWINA:  How many pages is it, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I am told it is nearly 100 pages long.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, anyone want to make any comments on that?  Mr. Mondrow.
Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  I did, thank you, Madam Chair.  I hesitated to wade in, but on behalf of ECAO and, in particular, with a view to the future, I am a bit concerned about the evolution of this matter.

I don't by any means fault Mr. Rogers or his client.  I think they're making every effort to cooperate.

It is my understanding of the Board's guidelines that the process for confidentiality entails, first, filing everything possible on the public record with redactions, unless the entire document is subject to a claim for confidentiality, in which case the summary is provided.

I think what's happened in this case is Hydro One has produced in confidence entire documents, but not taken the preliminary step, with the result that there are large gaps on the record, and we're talking about things kind of almost in the abstract.  And, indeed, for people who haven't signed the undertaking -- I have, so I have seen the documents that have been produced so far, but there are others that haven't, including people that will be reviewing these transcripts, and they will have absolutely no basis for evaluation of what sort of material is contained.

Again, I am not faulting Mr. Rogers.  I think he and his client have made every effort to cooperate, but as the Board deliberates this, I think perhaps that, with respect, reflection on the process that is mandated by the Board is appropriate.

And that process, again, entails filing everything possible first, and there must be something filed according to the process, as I understand it.  It is either a redacted version of the document in question, or it is a summary of the document in question, an explanation of the substance of it and why the document is not being produced and something else is being produced in its stead.

Again, on a forward-looking basis, I am a bit concerned that process hasn't been followed here, and the result is this kind of almost an ethereal discussion we're having about what is in there.  And it may very well be -- and I have full confidence in Mr. Rogers when he advises there is nothing new in the November board update, but that really isn't the point.


If it was asked for and it is relevant, something needs to be filed in that respect.  Apparently, that is not the approach that is being taken, and so I wanted to express that concern.

Now, having said that, and as I said at the outset, we don't intend to ask questions in respect of panel 2.  So, really, I don't want to invite an entire debate on these submissions, and Mr. Rogers of course will make a comment if he feels it appropriate, but I did want to register the concern with the panel so as you make a ruling in this particular instance, perhaps you could - and I suggest it is appropriate - keep a view to the process as mandated and the process as it might be applied in the future.  So that in addition to dealing with the necessities of this case, there's some sensitivity to what is going to happen next time.

I am just concerned that a precedent is being set here that my client or other intervenors will be faced with in the future, and it will be problematic at that point.  So I wanted to raise that concern with you.

I appreciate your time.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  And the Board is aware of the process and has that in mind.

Does anyone -- regarding the document in question, taking Mr. Mondrow's general comments in account, but in terms of this document itself, does anyone plan to cross-examine on this document or think that there might be a chance they would need to cross-examine on the document, once they saw it?

Mr. Buonaguro?
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  I personally had no plans to cross-examine on the document, particularly if it is as Mr. Rogers says it is, which I have no reason to think it is not.

The problem is that the evidence that that is what happened is that document.

So, I mean, I understand he's given us sort of a synopsis of what the document would say if it was filed, but I think I agree with Mr. Mondrow.  Put the document in on the record, confidential or not, and then we can look at it.  And then if it is as he says, it probably won't become an issue at the hearing, apart from what has already been filed, but you have to have that evidence in order to make that determination.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis?
Submissions by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I am in the same boat.  Not having seen the document, I can't comment, although I imagine there would be something in there that would be relevant.

But I also had a general comment with respect to the documents, and we have been discussing the documents on the basis of whether they would be cross-examined or not.  And of course that's important, but I would just like to bring to the Board's attention that it is not only a matter of what is going to be cross-examined.  The document is evidence, whether or not it is cross-examined.  It is a focus of cross-examination.

Normal practice is, if you are going to refer to a document in submissions, you put it to the witnesses in cross-examination.  However, that doesn't always happen.  And the document itself is evidence.

So there is a reason to have as much of the document on the public record as possible, even if it's not going to be cross-examined on.

Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  I understand.  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I am just speaking as the messenger for Mr. DeRose on this, but...


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will allow you that, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  I don't know if we would cross-examine until we see it, but whether we see that document or a summary of it, I think something has to be put on the public record, and I just wanted to make sure the summary aspect doesn't get left in the lurch, if the document is going to be accorded confidential treatment.


MR. ROGERS:  May I respond just ever so briefly, Madam Chair?

MS. NOWINA:  Can you let me ask Mr. Millar if he has comments first --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  -- and then I will come back to you, Mr. Rogers?

MR. MILLAR:  Again, only very briefly, Madam Chair.

The Board did, in fact, chase after Hydro One -- if I can put it that way -- to file a summary of the confidential document, and now it appears we will have certain -- at least portions of that redacted entered as exhibits, I assume for the purposes of cross-examination.

So to Mr. Mondrow's point that we have been trying to get that information, I think it might be suitable for this additional document, it may be a very simple matter to put together a summary if it is nothing more than the summary of what we already have, essentially.  So I have nothing further.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers.
Further Submissions by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly.  This is probably not the right place to debate this important issue, but my client has filed a summary that conforms with the rules, and we are quite willing to file a summary of this new document as well.

The test here is not -- on this whole issue, I'm not asking you to set a precedent here.

I think if I could wind the clock back three months, I think maybe some of these interrogatories might have been answered in a different way and we could have had a Board decision then, but so we have started down this path.  It is hard to retract and that's why I've got the documents here and I am willing to file them with you.

But the test isn't relevance.  This is not -- the rules are not, on confidential documents, are not a fishing expedition.  The test is what I read to you this morning, that it is only when the evidence cannot be obtained in other form -- in other ways and it is critical information that the confidential document is to be filed.

But I'll save that argument for another day.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We are going to adjourn for what I hope to be a brief period, but I am not making any guarantees.  So go and get a coffee.  We will probably be at least 15 or 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 9:34 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 9:56 a.m.
RULING:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

First, I would just like to make a general comment, and that is on our practice direction on confidentiality and the need for it to be followed closely and as far in advance as possible and not when we are into the hearing process.

Now, that said, I think it is a matter of hindsight - and hindsight is always perfect - that right now, in this particular case, we might have been better served if a lot of thought had gone into redaction early on, but we are where we are.  And I recognize that everyone now is trying to do everything in the best interests of the proceeding, moving in an efficient and practical manner.

With that said, so we approve all of the recommendations by Mr. Rogers that all of the documents filed as confidential be treated as such, that we have some redacted pages for CME's examination with panel 2, and that we have an in camera session with panel 2.

We also ask that the other document requested - and perhaps someone can give me a name for that document - be filed in confidence with a summary.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps, Mr. Rogers, you can give me the name of that document so we have it on the record.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Ms. Nowina.  The document -- it is actually a group of documents composed or contained in a submission to the Hydro One board of directors dated November 11th, 2009.  And I am in a position I will be able to file and distribute copies of that material after we finish this morning's session, along with a summary of what it contains.

MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Mr. Rogers.  Have I left any question unanswered?

Can we proceed, then, with panel 1?  Mr. Crocker you were going to start this morning.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, to interrupt.  Just by way of clarification, I think Mr. Rogers' suggestion was the in camera session be for Mr. Thompson's clients and its counsel, only, and you weren't -- I didn't hear, in your decision, that that was the format that you wished to proceed.  You did mention an in camera session.

MS. NOWINA:  I didn't understand that as a request.  I understood the request to be an in camera session.  I assume anyone who signed the undertaking would be able to attend that session.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for your clarification.  I apologize.  I misheard.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crocker.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC - PANEL 1, GREEN ENERGY PLAN (resumed)


David Curtis, Previously Sworn


Mark Graham, Previously Sworn


Ron Salt, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I want to pick up on the themes that were followed by Mr. Warren and Mr. Buonaguro yesterday.

On page 7 of A-14-2, the Green Energy Plan, you say at line 22:
"Hydro One Distribution projects that as much as 3,500 megawatts of renewable energy generation could seek connection by 2011..."

Et cetera.  Do you agree with me that is what you said?

MR. CURTIS:  That's right.  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  In the original plan, which was filed -- which was dated July 13th, 2009, which I am sure -- I would be surprised if you had in front of you, but I don't think it matters, we will get to it in a second -- you say 3,500 megawatts of renewable generation will be connected by 2007.

Just to confirm, the School Energy Coalition interrogatory H-10-5 also highlights the change of wording.  We didn't make it up.  That is the change of wording.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Am I correct in suggesting that the change of wording reflects a certain lack of certainty, a certain speculation as to what's going to happen with respect to the FIT program and renewable connections pursuant to that program?

MR. CURTIS:  No, I would not agree with that.

The 3,500 megawatt number, I think, as I testified earlier -- or I testified yesterday is our expected forecast number.

In terms of preparing this in evidence, we didn't want to over-convey in terms of what that meant.  So there have been various ways of expressing it.

I just wanted to make it clear that what we're talking about here is this is our forecast.  This is our expected value in terms of the amount of renewable generation.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that, but you would agree with me, would you not, that "will be connected" is a relatively certain term, whereas "could seek connection" is more speculative?

MR. CURTIS:  I wouldn't agree that "could" means speculative.  But what -- I guess, again, what I am trying to say here is that this is a forecasted number, so there is a probability or an expectation around that; that is, the expected value is the 3,500.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  All forecasts are more or less certain; do you agree with me?

MR. CURTIS:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  As one would expect, and as indicated in the evidence yesterday, there will be more certainty when the OPA publishes - and as you one of you indicated yesterday - next week what the actual applications at least were, not the contracts which are signed.  That's going to be a bit in the future, but at least what the applications were?

MR. CURTIS:  That would certainly provide more information, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Is there any -- if in fact your forecasts were out of -- were not on the money here and 3,500 is not an accurate figure, do you have plans to redo parts of the Green Energy Plan?  How do you plan to respond, if at all, to that?

MR. CURTIS:  As I believe we've stated in evidence, this is our forecast.  This is our plan.  And like other forecasts and plans that Hydro One has put before the Board in this application, we're willing to accept the risk, if you will, around being over and under.

MR. CROCKER:  You are going to live and die with your 3,500?

MR. CURTIS:  With the 3,500, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We will get to the risk-reward afterwards.

You say at various points in the Green Energy Plan, and I can give you just one example - it is on page 6 - we're open to that point in the plan.

You say at lines 11 to 13:
"Hydro One considers this to be a prudent and responsible plan.  Its development is based on the company's..."

And I gave you the wrong page, sorry.  It is page 1.

MR. CURTIS:  Sorry, what page are you referring to?

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, page 1.

MR. CURTIS:  Page 1?

MR. CROCKER:  It is line 11 to 13.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:
"Hydro One considers this to be a prudent and responsible plan.  Its development is based on the company's experience with the development of renewable energy generation connections in Ontario since 2006."

That reference is to the RESOP program, is it not, and to your experience with respect to the RESOP program?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's primarily correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you do, on page 6 at lines 24 to 28, say basically the same thing.  And you suggested, with respect to that reference, that you expect that the new applications are going to be, in some respects, similar to what you received pursuant to RESOP in areas that Hydro One serves?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, we certainly believe RESOP gives us a good indication of where the interest is going to be and where people have already made investments, if you will, in the development of the projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And there is another reference - I don't think I need to read it - on page 7, lines 1 to 5, which is similar to that.

And then you produce on page 7 of the Green Energy Plan, the graph.

MR. CURTIS:  Are you referring to the table?

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, the table, that's right.


MR. CURTIS:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, it is a table, not a graph.  A table.  And that table provides a summary of the number, the size, the location of the RESOP requests before any request to rescind CIAs were received.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, other than -- these are actually requests for connection impact assessments for CIAs.  We don't know for sure they're all under RESOP.  Certainly the majority of them are.

MR. CROCKER:  And on page 8, in the bullets between line 5 and line 13 on page 8, you talk about what you are expecting with respect to the -- with following the FIT program.

And my question here is -- is this -- and there are more references I can give you here, but it just buttresses the same point -- my question here is:  I wondered why you were unable or chose not to - and if you chose not to - why you were unable to provide more detail with respect to the breakout of the kinds of connections you were getting, and what you were expecting, as opposed to simply providing us with numbers and -- and sizes, et cetera.

MR. CURTIS:  As you referred earlier to the table that is on page 7 that talks about the number of different CIA applications that we have evaluated, these are from specific proponents in specific areas of the province.

So this was the basis, in terms of our assessment and evaluation of coming up with the 3,500 megawatt target.

So the type of information that you did just mention is available.  The issue, though, under these circumstances, is that this is customer-specific information, and also that these are not certain applications.  These are proponents coming forward and asking us to do a customer impact assessment.

So there is -- on a more specific basis, there isn't that ability to say with certainty that this particular project is going to go ahead and it is going to be located in this particular location.

On an aggregate basis, overall, we have confidence in terms of the forecast, the 3,500 megawatts that we're putting forward.  But on customer-specific or location-specific information, we're not trying to convey that we have certainty around that.

MR. CROCKER:  But you must understand the position that we are in here.  We are trying to decide how much confidence we can have in your 3,500 megawatts, and how we test the certainty that you have in it.

And with more -- with more of the detail that I am speaking of, we can have more or less, hopefully more, confidence in your -- in your number, in your 3,500 megawatts.

And I am still am not sure that I understand why, despite your answer, you couldn't have provided more detail, so that we can -- so that we could have had more certainty in your number.  And by "we" I mean intervenors generally who are concerned in -- with the issue.

MR. CURTIS:  Well, as I have tried to explain, the detail that we have is as a result of specific customers approaching us and requesting connection.

So from that perspective, being able to provide that information back is a problem for us, since we are bound under the Distribution System code to maintain confidential -- confidentiality around customer-specific information.

MR. CROCKER:  But couldn't you identify what you are talking about without identifying the customer?

MR. CURTIS:  I believe we've endeavoured to do that, in terms of the responses that we've made in terms of various IRs.

We've indicated, in terms of -- generally speaking, the percentages that we're expecting in different parts of the province.

So we have tried to do that on an aggregated basis.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I wonder if I could help my friend, Madam Chair.  I note there was an interrogatory from the Schools, Interrogatory H-10, schedule 6, page 1, in which the company was asked to provide a summary of the number, size and location of the connection requests received thus far.  And there is a considerable amount of detail provided concerning the size, location and connection requests received by Hydro One before any requests to rescind CIAs were received.  So that may help my friend.

MR. CROCKER:  I was aware -- thank you, Mr. Rogers.  I was aware of that, but... I understand.  It doesn't provide me with as much as I would like, but I understand your point.  I will move on.

I take it, in summary, that you are not -- you are comfortable with what you gave, and you are not comfortable about providing any further detail?

MR. CURTIS:  Depending on what detail you are seeking, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  The -- the detail that I spoke of.  I will move on.  I don't want to -- I want to eliminate things that others have asked specifically.

At A-14-2, page 27, the Board -- I am not sure that my reference is right.  Yes, I'm sorry, the paragraph which begins at line 7:

"The Board is aware that work has been done in Ontario and other jurisdictions regarding smart grid development."

MR. CURTIS:  I am afraid that is not what I have on --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, again --

MR. CURTIS:  Page 7 of --


MR. GRAHAM:  Page 27.


MR. CURTIS:  Twenty-seven, rather.

MR. ROGERS:  Twenty-seven, page 27.

MR. GRAHAM:  We are looking at 27.  On line 7, I see the Board's planning guideline G-2009, et cetera.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry.  I am referring to the document that is referenced at -- that is the Board guideline G-2009-0087 --


MR. CURTIS:  The actual guideline?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  So you are talking about the guideline?  Hold on.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That guideline cautions against unnecessary duplication.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I'm just trying to find it.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, do we have copies of that guideline?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't know if we have spare copies here for you, Madam Chair, but we could --

MS. NOWINA:  You've got one for us to share?

MR. CROCKER:  This is my only reference to it, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  We talked about it yesterday too.  I would just like to have a copy up here, Mr. Crocker.

MR. GRAHAM:  And, sorry, what page are you on?

MR. CROCKER:  Page 7.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The caution that I am interested in is this:
"The Board is aware that work has been done in Ontario and other jurisdictions (most notably the United States) regarding smart grid development.  The Board expects that distributors will, prior to making smart grid-related expenditures, familiarize themselves with that work to ensure that efforts are not being unnecessarily duplicated."


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Hydro Workers, in their interrogatory H-6-7, asks about the same thing or references the same thing, and asks at 2(a):
"Is Hydro One aware of any collaboration among Ontario's distributors and transmitters?"

And the answer is that Hydro One is aware of collaboration among distributors, transmitters and other organizations, and goes on to say Hydro One is also involved in other studies, ongoing collaboration, several universities, et cetera.

The evidence throughout this talks about what lessons have been learned by Hydro One as a result of the work with other organizations, but can you explain to me or elaborate for me, please, how that information has been used here?

What specific activities have been avoided, what you haven't done as a result of this?  What's been unnecessary for you to do as a result of this and how you've, in fact, avoided duplication?  What efforts have you made?

MR. CURTIS:  This reference is specific to smart grid.  And, yes, we have made use of information that's been available from other sources in terms of the development, for example, of the smart grid requests for proposals that was put out.

And my colleague, Rick Stevens, who I believe is on panel 4, will be quite willing to go into detail with you in terms of how that's been used.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So you are suggesting we canvass the same area with him and he will be able to give us specifics of --

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  He will be able to provide you with the specific details that I think you are seeking.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The issue of whether Hydro One is able to do the capital projects that they are going to be required to do here was raised yesterday.

I want to raise it again in a different way.  Can you give us assurances?  We understand, and you said it yesterday, again, that you can do this.  Can you give us concrete examples of situations where you have had to do this kind of work, this amount of work in this kind of time, historically, to give us some assurances that you can do it as you are going forward with the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, historically, this is unprecedented, so there is no historical example that has this volume of work, but we do have plans, and they are set out, for example, in some of the confidential material in some of the initiatives we're undertaking to make sure we are able to do it.

MR. CROCKER:  So you are suggesting to me that our assurances come from the confidential information which has been filed?  I haven't reviewed it.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm suggesting that the confidential information did provide some information with respect to the initiatives we're undertaking.  So that would be part of your assurance; that's correct.

MR. SALT:  I would like to add to that that panel 3 is prepared to address the preparations that they've made for the -- for this type of work and the volume of work.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Can I, Mr. Rogers, just address you and ask a question about that?

So there have been questions about the assurance that the plan can actually be implemented.

This panel is about the Green Energy Plan, but it seems to me that we're going to have to come back to a couple of other panels about the details of the Green Energy Plan.  Is that your understanding, just so that at that point we don't get a panel that says, We're not addressing the Green Energy Plan?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  The panel 3, I believe, is probably the panel to deal with these issues about the execution of this and other plans in this application.  And we won't take the position that the ship has sailed, no.

I think panel 3 is better equipped to answer this type of question, though.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  And should it turn out, Madam Chair, that we need some help from this panel, I can arrange to have them either brought back or --

MS. NOWINA:  Without referring to the confidential materials.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't believe we need to refer to the confidential materials to deal with this aspect of the -- whether or not this company can actually undertake this capital program, that is the question.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  It has come up in other cases before you.

MS. NOWINA:  It is an important line of questioning.

MR. ROGERS:  Of course it is.  And panel 3 I think is the best one to deal with that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry.  I'm sorry, Mr. Crocker.  I am told Mr. Salt can deal with the work details, but the execution of the work is best put to panel 3.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.

MR. CROCKER:  I will wait for panel 3.

Earlier, when I was asking you about the uncertainty surrounding your 3,500 megawatt projection, you indicated that you were -- Hydro One was prepared to bear the risk and fly with that.

Can you explain to me what you meant by that?  What risk are you bearing?

MR. CURTIS:  This risk is the same risk that we're bearing with other plans, other forecasts that we put forward in terms of this application.

What we're talking about here is that we have confidence in the forecast that we put forward to this Board and that if there are overages or underages, that we are prepared to live with that within the current application for the 2010 and 2011 period.

MR. CROCKER:  The customer bears -- your customers bear a risk with that approach, as well.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry, just with respect to that, the customer risk, in terms of financial risk, would be ameliorated.  We would basically be at risk in terms of the net income with respect to -- so it wouldn't affect the rates.  I am not sure where your question was heading but...

MR. CROCKER:  It wouldn't affect the rates, but it is possible that your customers will have provided you with money that you haven't spent?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's possible for all of our forecasts; correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And how much weight do you give to that risk in evaluating and weighing the risks in all of this?

MR. CURTIS:  I think --

MR. CROCKER:  How do you evaluate that risk?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, we give considerable weight to this in terms of our overall plan development, and, as I said, this is in concert with all of the other plans that we put forward in this application that we're talking about.

There would be the expectation, in terms of other parts of our application, that there would be similar risks in terms of being over and under as far as the forecasts are concerned.

But the expectation is that over the entire rate application, that those would even out, that those would balance out.  So that, on balance, our customers, in terms of the rates, would not be harmed in I think the manner that you are trying to describe here.

MR. CROCKER:  But wouldn't you agree with me that because there is -- maybe I shouldn't presume.  I will take a step back.

Wouldn't you agree with me that there is more risk associated with your projection of 3,500 megawatts than is normally the case with respect to your projections?  This is new stuff?  This is all sort of -- we're all working from ground zero on this?  And if you agree with me with respect to that assumption, then wouldn't you also agree that the customer risk here is bigger than it normally would be?

MR. CURTIS:  I would not agree with your assumption.

MR. CROCKER:  Either of them?

MR. CURTIS:  As I think we have presented several times over the course of our testimony, the estimate is based on the real applications that we've received.  This is not information that is pulled out of the air somewhere.  This is based on solid applications that we've had, since 2006, that we've evaluated.  And so we feel that we have a very solid grounding, in terms of the forecasts that we've made.

MR. CROCKER:  This goes -- takes me right back to the question I asked you about the table on page, wherever it was, 7.

If you had provided us with more detail with respect to what went into that table, perhaps we could have more confidence in the 3,500 megawatts and the risk that the -- your customers might bear.

MR. CURTIS:  And as I believe as Mr. Rogers has pointed out, we have endeavoured to try and provide that detail; for example, in the response to the Schools interrogatory that we pulled up earlier.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's look at another table, then, the table on page 11 of A-14-2.

I'm sorry.  It is the table in D1, tab 3, schedule 3.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Crocker, for me, which table in D1-3-3?

MR. CROCKER:  Table 3.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  This table -- well, rather than me telling you what this table is, explain to me what you're depicting here.

MR. CURTIS:  All right.  In this table, this presents the three different categories, in terms of generation connection:  The large, 10 megawatts to 50 megawatts, the mid-size, 500 kilowatts to 10 megawatts, and the small, being under 500 kilowatts.

Noting in that latter category that this does not contain the micro-generators.

MR. CROCKER:  This is what you're expecting; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  Not exactly.  There are four columns.  The 2008 column is an actual column.  The other columns, 2009, 2010 and 2011, are our forecast, our expected values.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could you not have provided us with more detail than is provided here, to give us more confidence in your projections?

In other words, this is about as broad and vague as I could imagine.  Could you not have broken this down further or can you not break this down further to provide us more confidence with your projection of megawatt connections?

MR. CURTIS:  Are you requesting an undertaking in terms of providing more detail?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, perhaps I could ask the question -- I can ask one question prior to that, and then...

Why did you not provide more detail?  Why did you do it in this way?

MR. CURTIS:  I think, as I outlined in my previous response, the detail that we have is based on the customer impact assessment request that the company received, and that is very specific in terms of identifying the customer.

So in terms of detail, under the Distribution System code, we are required to keep that level of information confidential, information on specific customers.

So I think we couldn't provide that information, based on -- that you -- I believe you are requesting, on that basis.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let me ask you whether you could have provided us with information on the regions which were involved here, a breakdown of the regions.

MR. CURTIS:  I believe we did that.  That is the response that we provided in terms of H-1-146.

So that is Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 146.

MR. CROCKER:  If I look at this interrogatory response, explain -- relate that for me to the table.

MR. CURTIS:  Very well.  As it begins, the forecast of 3,500 megawatts of renewable generation by 2011 includes different feasibility tests that we ran on the CIA applications that we reviewed and analyzed.

And as a result of that examination, we found that about 45 percent of that generation would connect in areas of southwestern Ontario.  It also includes portion of the Golden Horseshoe in that.  25 percent would be connected in eastern Ontario, 15 percent in the central areas of the province, including Georgian Bay and Muskoka, and the final 15 percent in the northeast and northwestern parts of Ontario.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And how does that break down, in terms of large, mid-size and small?

MR. CURTIS:  Almost all of that is in the mid-size area -- volume, because that's where most of the numbers are, the 132 and the 172.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  So for example, you -- you could apply the 45 percent that's in southwestern Ontario to the 132 number that is the value in 2010 for the mid-size generating units, and that's the number that we would expect in that part of the province.

MR. CROCKER:  And the small, then?  You would expect that in northeast, northwestern Ontario?

MR. CURTIS:  Sorry, the 15 percent?  Yeah, 15 percent of --

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I am just trying to relate the two pieces of information.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, yes.  That percentage applies to that particular table, table 3.

MR. CROCKER:  So the 15 percent that you've talked about in that interrogatory, I should assume that that is small, the generation in northeastern, northwestern portions of Ontario is small?  That's what I should assume?

THE CURTIS:  The 15 percent in the response in that interrogatory applies to the number of connections that we would expect to take place in northeastern and northwestern Ontario.

MS. NOWINA:  The total number, but it is not broken down by size of project?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.  But the percentages would apply across the different sizes of project.

MR. CROCKER:  Perhaps to simplify this, rather than -- perhaps I can ask for an undertaking that you relate this response to the table, so that we understand.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think he has done that, but may I just help here?  I am a little confused now.  I think maybe what my friend is driving at -- is there a disproportionate number of small projects in the northern part of the province?

MR. CURTIS:  No, there is not.

MR. ROGERS:  I see.  So the percentages more or less, more or less apply across the board, do they?

MR. CURTIS:  Across all three categories, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I mean, I...

MS. NOWINA:  Therefore, it would be a pretty simple undertaking, would it not, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, it would.

MS. NOWINA:  So will you give an undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  We will do it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J2.1.  Are we clear on what the undertaking is?  Does that have to be repeated, Mr. Crocker?
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO INDICATE IN THE percentAGES OF THE 3,500 MEGAWATTS DESCRIBED IN THE RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY H-1-146 FROM THE BOARD TO THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ON TABLE 3 OF EXHIBIT D-1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 3.

MR. CROCKER:  I can repeat it if you like.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you should.

MR. CROCKER:  Simply to indicate, in the percentages of the 35 megawatts described in the response to interrogatory H-1-146 from the Board to the information provided on table 3 of Exhibit D-1, tab 3, schedule 3.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's fine, except it is 3,500 megawatts; right?

MR. CROCKER:  What did I say?

MR. GRAHAM:  Thirty-five.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, sorry.

MS. NOWINA:  If it was 35, we wouldn't be here.

MR. CROCKER:  No, true.  Sorry.  Thank you.

Although I heard your answer yesterday to I can't remember whose question, about what Hydro One is seeking approval for in this, which doesn't include the capital projects for the period 2012 and 2014, I have a question, in any event, to understand the information that you have provided.

If you would, could you go to the table, please, on page 1 of the Green Energy Act (sic).


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The cost of capital in 2010 you are projecting to be $198,000?

MR. GRAHAM:  $198 million.

MR. CROCKER:  My orders of magnitude have been off.  $198 million.  I don't think in millions.

And in 2011, $358 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Correct?  And if my math is right, that works out to about -- if Ms. Grice's math is right, that works out to 0.16 million per megawatt.  Do you agree with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would have to think about that, but assuming your arithmetic is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we go to the period 2012/2014, the capital cost is $1,180,000,000; correct.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And if we do the same arithmetic, that works out to 0.34 million dollars per megawatt?

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And I wonder what -- why the significant difference.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think I am just speculating when I sit here, because the detail is not the same for the last three years of the plan, but we're talking about the easiest and most effective, most -- sorry, easiest to do being done first, particularly in terms of the carry-over from the RESOP program where the generators had to pay for those connections.  So they were looking at the most -- lowest cost, if you will, situations in terms of what they had to pay.

Those are the ones that are the most developed, so those are the ones that we would expect to go first.  The ones that we expect to see later would perhaps require additional investment.

MR. CURTIS:  I think to add also to Mr. Graham's response in terms of the smart grid area, you are looking in the latter years, the latter three years, to a more expansive rollout of smart grid within our service territory.

MR. CROCKER:  So a more expansive rollout because it is going to take some time to get these projects going, or why a more expansive rollout?

MR. CURTIS:  As we've explained in terms of our submission, this is -- the smart grid program is a very carefully and prudently staged program.

So the first stage, which would take place in the 2010 and 2011 period, is the development within the Owen Sound area, where we're doing our smart zone.  And this is where we would evaluate technology, that we would then plan on rolling out in subsequent years, which is what is reflected in the 2012 to 2014 period.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I want to talk to you a bit about the level of detail which was applied to the consideration of the Green Energy Plan.

There are a number of references that I can give you with respect to questions you were asked and answers you provided with respect to this, but I think maybe I will just -- maybe I will give you one and then...

You say at A-14-2, page 1, starting at the end of line 15:
"The spending reflected in the plan went through the same business planning and approval process as all other investments presented in this Application."


Then you say, again, in the same document on page 27, I think - let me see if I can find the reference - right at the beginning, at line 2:
"Similar to all other Hydro One investments, smart grid work programs have gone through a controlled and responsible business planning process..."

Et cetera.  And then the Schools asked you an interrogatory H-10-5 -- I think I have given you the wrong interrogatory reference.  I will give you the reference in a sec, but your answer to the question - and it was a question about your business planning - Schools asked you to provide business cases for the net present value or any other internal analysis to support the development capital projects that you've described in your plan.

And your response was -- I'm sorry, it is H-10, schedule 15.

Do you have the reference?

MR. CURTIS:  I have that reference.

MR. CROCKER:  Your response was:
"Detailed business cases including net present value of expenditures will not be developed for distribution generation related to capital projects until the information on participation in the FIT program firms up."

Isn't that a recognition of the uncertainty involved in all of this, despite the fact that you were asking -- that you are planning on certain megawatt numbers and asking for specific and pretty certain money?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, Mr. Crocker, this is similar to all other areas of the corporation where we have business cases under development, but not finalized yet, and they are included in forecasts, for example, in transmission and distribution the same way where there are major issues.  So we don't know, as Mr. Curtis has testified, exactly where these generators are going to be located and exactly what needs to be done.

So the business cases are a reflection of actual release of money as opposed to plans.

So the business cases aren't available for those at this point in time, as they aren't for other projects that are in similar situations for the corporation.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, that, I'm -- maybe I am talking apples and oranges, but I don't think I am.

Are you still suggesting that all of these capital expenditures -- proposed capital expenditures, your forecasts, went through the same rigorous business planning that would normally have been conducted?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we are.  Again, as I mentioned, in many other circumstances in the corporation we don't have detailed business cases available for individual investments that are included in the plans that go through the business planning process, and in fact are in some cases taken to this Board for approval.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If that's your answer, that's your answer.

I just have a brief question as to something that came up yesterday.  You were talking about storage, energy storage yesterday?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I was.

MR. CROCKER:  And you mentioned three specific types of storage: batteries, hydro, fuel cells.

Are all of in all of those three areas, are there commercially available facilities, equipment, et cetera, to do that kind of storage --

MR. CURTIS:  My understanding --

MR. CROCKER:  -- to achieve --

MR. CURTIS:  My understanding is that the technology is commercially available in those three areas.

MR. CROCKER:  Fuel cells, as well?

MR. CURTIS:  There are fuel cell manufacturers.

MR. CROCKER:  Are any of those technologies -- setting aside hydro -- any -- are either fuel cells or batteries for storage in use by Hydro One at the moment?

MR. CURTIS:  Not for storage, no.  Batteries are in use within Hydro One's territory.  They're often used, for example, as backup supply at critical distribution and transmission stations.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Crocker, if I might -- and it is just an aside -- there are utilities in the States, wires utilities that are looking at or have made investments in storage facilities to -- it's essentially in a pilot mode, as we were talking about here already.

MR. CURTIS:  Right.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, panel.  I have no further questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

According to the information I have, we have yet to hear from Mr. Mondrow, Mr. Thompson and Mr. DeVellis; is that correct?  Is there anyone else who plans to cross-examine this panel?

MR. MILLAR:  Staff will be doing a cross-examination as well, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Sure, Mr. Millar.  I would have remembered you eventually.

[Laughter]

MS. NOWINA:  Which of you would like to fill the time between now and 12:00 o'clock lunch?  Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, I am happy to go next.  I don't know that I will go all the way to 12:00 o'clock, but --

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.  Thanks.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  I would like to ask you about some numbers, if I may.

At page 19 of your application, that's A -- Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 19.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You have a list of your expansion projects.  And in the table there, you have gross capital investment for up to 2014; that is the sum of those three columns there.  It's $695 million; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  You are -- you are adding --

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's correct.

MR. CURTIS:  -- 2010 and 11, plus the -- yes, that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So the total between 2010 and 2014 $695 million?  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And elsewhere in your evidence -- I believe it was in an interrogatory response -- you said that the Distribution System code guidelines mandated you spend up to $90,000 per megawatt on expansion projects; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am sure it is there.  That's our expectation and I believe that is what the code says.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if we take -- this is simple arithmetic and you can argue with my logic if you like -- but 7,000 megawatts times $90,000 per megawatt, I get $630 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. SALT:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the amounts?

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you take $7,000 - 7,000 megawatts, sorry, that was -- that was your --

MR. SALT:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- projected or the maximum projected renewable energy forecast between now and 2014; that's correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if we take $90,000 per megawatt, which is the maximum amount that Hydro One is able to spend under the Distribution System code, I get $630 million.  Right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to check, I think that is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And that's assuming that you spend the maximum on each megawatt that -- for each project?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, Mr. DeVellis, the one thing I would note is that that says it is $90,000 or included in an OEB-approved plan.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  So as Mr. Salt can describe further, we have plans for dedicated transformer stations with dedicated feeders to serve new renewable generators, and some of those are to be at a cost greater than $90,000 per megawatt, because we feel it is the best way to make progress on it.  So that is something that the Board will have to consider.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  We'll get to that in a second, but your estimate of 695 million is $65 million more than the maximum under the Distribution System code, right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I wouldn't use the word "maximum" but --

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, that's fine.  We'll get to that, but --

MR. SALT:  I would just like to add a clarification.

We also have enabler feeders from an enabler TS, as well.  And that is, if I remember the math, I think it was about $145,000 per megawatt.  And that is above the 90,000, but it was a specific project, and we expect that the entire project would go forward, the TS, the feeders that we proposed, as one project for evaluation, whether or not the entire project was economic.

So it was an exception to the $90,000 per megawatt.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That enabler feeder is included in the -- in this 695 million?

MR. SALT:  There's six feeders associated with that, and they're scheduled for construction in 2011.

Further to that, there is additional ones in the period 2012 to 2014, and I believe there are six more TSes involved.

So those are the costs that would increase the average cost per megawatt.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But your -- the $630 million that I just spoke about --

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  -- that assumes that A, you are going to do the entire 7,000, 7,000 megawatts, and that you will spend at least -- I know you have trouble with this characterization -- but the maximum under the Distribution System code; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  I am on record already on that, with respect to the maximum.

Again, as Mr. Salt has tried to point out, and I think the numbers work out to be about $35 million, roughly, per station --

MR. SALT:  Yes.


MR. GRAHAM:  -- in terms of the dedicated feeders.


MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  So if we talk about seven stations total, one, basically, around the end of 2011, and six more in the future years, that's seven times 35 million, would be 245 million, if my correct -- if my arithmetic is correct.  For approximately -- I think the maximum is 240 megawatts per station.

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. GRAHAM:  So that is seven stations times 240 is the maximum megawatts that could be connected there.

And that works out to about 145,000 per megawatt.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I want to move on to some of your plan assumptions and I am going to return, unfortunately, to your interrogatory response at H-1-146.  And I know you have discussed this a number of times already.

You have given the breakdown.  You say that this is based on historical applications, and by that, you mean applications under the RESOP program, primarily?

MR. CURTIS:  It -- yes, primarily under RESOP.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And when you say "historical applications" do you mean applications for connection impacts assessments?

MR. CURTIS:  They're -- certainly, they start off with CIAs.  Some of them have proceeded, as we've referenced in that table, to actual connection agreements.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  And I think, Mr. DeVellis, just to add to Mr. Curtis' response, this is a judgment based on a number of factors, which I tried to outline in my direct evidence.

So there are the CIAs, but there is also those projects that have progressed to have a capital cost -- sorry, a cost recovery agreement, and to appear to be scheduling the work with us to do that, and also to look at the transmission constraints with respect to what's available, so that this is, if you will, an educated judgment.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The reason I ask is because I understand that a number of the CIAs have been rescinded or just didn't proceed.  So is this breakdown based on the CIAs or based on the actual connection cost agreements that you signed?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's based on all of those factors I mentioned before.  So the connection costs agreements would definitely -- if a project has not got to a connection cost agreement, we would have to have an indication otherwise we expect it to proceed, but it is being held because there is no availability of contracts right now.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, under - the FIT program has changed the economics of these types of applications.  Would you agree with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would say that's correct, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you expect that, as a result of that, you would have different kinds of applications coming forward in different areas than you may have seen under the RESOP program?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know that I would expect that, because these are likely to be the most economic and the most developed.

It's always possible this will make projects economic that were previously not economic and not coming forward.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then would that entail a change in your plans or your budgets?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would tend to think - and this is my speculation - that it might affect more the latter three years of the plan, the longer-term projects.

The shorter-term projects we are generally expecting to be those that have developed already and are ready to go, and most of those would have been projects that looked at the RESOP program.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you turn now to Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 6?

This is the interrogatory response that you referred to during Mr. Crocker's examination.

What we had asked for is a breakdown of the connection requests.  And, I will be frank, I can't understand any of the evidence that was attached to this.  That's not surprising, I guess.

But, again, this is based on the -- what you say is here, it was based on the requests -- sorry, the connection requests before any requests to rescind CIAs were received?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So...

MR. GRAHAM:  Understanding that the rescinding is basically happening in order to qualify for a new contract, so that is not an indication, if they rescind, that they don't expect to go forward.  In fact, it is an indication that they do expect to go forward.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  But we had in your table - I think it was page 7 - a large number of CIA applications and only a relatively smaller number of connection requests -- agreements.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, that's true, and I think we covered that yesterday with respect to why it went down.

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I understand.  I am just trying to understand how this evidence you have attached to the interrogatory response relates to the budgets that you have developed in your plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think we were trying to be responsive with respect to assisting you in saying that these are the requests that we are using as part of the evidence or part of the input to developing that forecast.  So this was provided as information.  This is also available on the website, actually, this information.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  But the impact -- the connection assessments that are the basis for this are not the assessments that are going to be going forward.  They're connection cost agreements that are going to be going forward.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, first off, it asks for connection requests, which is -- I guess could be interpreted -- we interpret it as the full information we have on the website.

It is true that we expect that to change.  I think we testified yesterday to what we expect to evolve, but it is true that these are CIA requests that are basically put forward in the response to the interrogatory.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you turn to Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 40?  Do you have that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I've got it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  This is an interrogatory from AMPCO.  And you were asked there, based on Hydro One's experience, what percentage of this capacity - that is, the 3,500 megawatts - will be made up of wind, solar, water power, renewable biomass, biogas or landfill gas.

Your response basically - and I'll paraphrase it - you can't forecast the percentage of this capacity, because we have not seen applications under the FIT program.

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But now that seems to be contradictory to your evidence about how you have planned the amount of capacity or the location, because what I understand your evidence, in that respect, is that it is based on your experience with RESOP.

Here you are saying, We can't predict, because we don't have the information from the FIT program yet.

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, in terms of the response to the interrogatory.  But we do have that sort of information that's available in terms of the estimate that we have come up with, in terms of the 35,000, which is based on the CIAs that we've assessed going through the RESOP process.

MR. DeVELLIS:  My question to you is:  Why are you more confident about that, about the former projection - that is, the amount and the location - than you are about trying to predict the types of projects that will be coming forward?

MR. CURTIS:  In terms of the applications that we received, in terms of CIAs, it does identify the type of generator that is being connected.  So we do have that information.

What we are saying in response to this particular interrogatory is, because we don't know specifically which ones are going to go forward in terms of the FIT contract, we don't have that information that's available.

We have it based on the connection impact assessment requests that we've received.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Sorry to flip back and forth, but can I ask you to flip to Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 14?

We asked you here about the methodology that Hydro One plans to use to assess the probability of completion of projects.

And your response is that, going forward, Hydro One expects that almost all generators that apply for a connection impact assessment will proceed to connection.

Then you talk about the enhanced security requirements for the FIT program.  Do you see that there?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the security -- as I understand the FIT program, the security that is required when you file the application, depending on whether it is a community project or an Aboriginal project, ranges between $5,000 and $10,000 per megawatt.  Is that your understanding?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it might go above that in certain circumstances, but that is roughly a good characterization, I think.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And --

MR. GRAHAM:  That is just the application security.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's the application security.  And it is based on the application security that if the application is accepted, then FIT will proceed to -- the OPA will proceed to enter into a contract with the applicant, and it is pursuant to that that a connection impact assessment is done?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there is other steps that happen there with respect to availability of the wires, and so on, and there is a completion and performance security that is also required to be posted.  And the Board has made analogous adjustments to the code so that if someone is not under the FIT program, they will be required to put the security deposits.

Basically, the agencies involved, including the Board, have determined this represents appropriate security to give reasonable assurance of the completion of the project.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  When you refer to the generators that have applied for a connection impact assessment, you are referring to the applications you have already received under RESOP?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  Here, actually, I think we're - sorry - referring to those that would come forward under FIT, and these would be subsequent to getting a FIT contract, that they would be applying for a CIA.

MR. DeVELLIS:  The question was about your methodology for assessing the probability of completion of projects.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You said almost all generators that apply for a connection impact assessment will proceed to connection.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  That's under FIT.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Under FIT.  No, but the applications you've received already -- in terms of your planning, the applications you would have received would have been under the RESOP program?

MR. GRAHAM:  Fair enough.  That's true.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Those would -- did the same security requirements apply to those?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, they did not.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if some of those had been rescinded or haven't gone forward, even if they apply again under FIT, they would then have that security requirement that you are talking about?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if they don't then come up with that security, then those applications won't go forward?

MR. GRAHAM:  Fair enough.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You haven't built any of that probability into your model.  Some of these will not -- because they didn't get financing, can't get security, even though they have already had a connection impact assessment, they won't go forward?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, as I think we said in other applications or in other interrogatory responses, or at least other evidence, we expect that in the situations where someone is not able to make a go of it because of those requirements that another project will fill their place.

Anecdotally, I know I am not supposed to refer to them because they're not verified, but the OPA has seen significant applications come forward in the initial period of FIT, where we can just find out what those numbers are.  So I think that there is probably more than enough to achieve our forecasts in those forecasts -- or in those applications, I should say.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And speaking of FIT, how does the security requirements compare to the total cost of these projects?  Do you know?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would really be calling for a lot of speculation on my part.  I might have some idea but --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, from -- from what I understand, the total projected cost -- like this is a ballpark estimate that developers use -- is approximately $1.5 million per megawatt, is the total in-the-ground cost.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your evidence; I am willing to say that is in the right order of magnitude.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the security or the application security, at least, that developers have to put up when they apply for the programs is between 5- and $10,000 per megawatt?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  That's the application security.  Again, there is, again, completion performance security on top of that.  And again, the Board has been involved in the discussions around the appropriateness of the level of security that is required.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But -- and that's fine.  There may be other security that I have missed there.  But in relation to the total cost, I mean I understand it is not an insubstantial amount for anybody.  But in relation to the total cost, isn't there a probability or a possibility that at some point, some of these projects will fall by the wayside, because --

MR. GRAHAM:  There's always that possibility.  Again, I think with respect to what we expect if that does occur, we expect that there will be other people ready and waiting to go forward on that.  And in some cases, they may pick up the project development to that stage.  You know, that's always possible.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I will move to a more interesting topic now.  That is amortization.

[Laughter]

MR. DeVELLIS:  In your application at page 24 -- that's Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 -- you say -- let me just pull that up.


You use a 20-year amortization period to calculate the revenue requirement impact of the Green Energy Plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, is this only for the revenue requirement collected for the external funding, or for everything that is part of the plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding is it is just for the part that is collected from the external funding.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So the part that's in revenue requirement will, in your -- that is in your revenue requirement in this proceeding, that will be collected from ratepayers in a normal fashion, that is based on a different amortization?

MR. GRAHAM:  Based on what is recovered from our distribution ratepayers; that's correct.  Essentially, the -- this is following the philosophy to be looked at further by the Board in January, but that those costs would benefit our distribution customers and therefore should be paid for on the same basis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And your rationale for using a 20-year amortization is that it coincides with the contract period for renewable energy?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And is that, tying the useful life of an asset to contract, is that something that's done in other instances?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, you are really asking for me to speculate.  I know that -- a little bit about the concept of economic life, so tying it to economic life of a contract is something that may be done, depending on the risks that the thing will not have value post that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  But you will agree with me that generally for ratemaking purposes, we assume the economic life of the asset to be the physical useful life of the asset?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be -- you are really outside my area of expertise.  I think there is another panel that's to be called to talk to the depreciation matters.  Mr. Rogers, I am looking at you.  I don't know.  I think...

MR. ROGERS:  I saw -- I saw the witness looking at me, but I didn't have the answer.

[Laughter]

MR. ROGERS:  There was a long pause there.

We don't have a depreciation panel, but I think the witnesses on panel 2 could answer questions about depreciation.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  I mean generally speaking, what my friend has suggested is correct, I think, generally speaking.  I don't know how far he wants to go with it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  While I am on this issue of the global adjustment, and maybe this is an issue for January, but are the amounts recorded in the global adjustment, other than this 20-year amortization, are they going to be a forecast amount just like you would in a rate case, or is that going to be trued-up for actuals?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  I don't know about process.  I would note that it's province-wide.  Under the Regulation, it says "province-wide customers."  It actually doesn't say:  Use the global adjustment mechanism.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  No, again, if these questions are better suited for the January panel, just let me know.

But my question is:  What is Hydro One's intention?  Is it -- you book in a revenue requirement according to your forecast, and that goes into the global adjustment?  Or are you going to be putting in whatever the actual number is whenever it is spent?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is better handled by the January panel, in terms of the treatment of those costs.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  Okay.

You -- this is also along -- with respect to the amortization.  You may not be able to answer it, but it's in relation to Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 23.

MR. GRAHAM:  Hold on a sec.  I have it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I'm -- this -- I'm a little confused by this answer in light of your previous answer, because what I had understood is the 20-year amortization only applied to the amount for the spending that's going to the global adjustment fund, and not in anything that is in the revenue requirement.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, province-wide, and I believe the 8 million and 30.7 million are those amounts, the revenue -- the requirement from those customers.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay. That's the -- that is the global adjustment revenue requirement, then, not the --


MR. GRAHAM:  You keep saying "global adjustment" and I will keep saying "province-wide".

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  The province-wide revenue account?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I see.  Okay.  And so that is -- the differences there, depending on whether you use the 20-year amortization or some other --

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  My understanding is if we were to use their normal depreciation, physical-life basis, as you mentioned, it would be the lower numbers on the second chart.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  Do you know what the amortization period is for the lower -- the chart on the bottom?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I think it would vary depending on the asset, but it would be longer, obviously.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I see.  Okay.  And you have zero OM&A there in both cases.  So none of the OM&A costs are being charged to the province-wide?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think I would have to look back at the evidence, but this is talking about amortization, so of course there is no amortization on OM&A.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Okay.

I think those are all of my questions.  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

Mr. Mondrow or Mr. Thompson, who wants to go next?

MR. MONDROW:  I think I moved to the mic first.  I am happy to go.  If Mr. Thompson wants to go, I can wait.  I think he is content with me proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am still recovering from yesterday.

[Laughter]

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will give you that, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMSON:  I'm still in the penalty box.

[Laughter]

MS. NOWINA:  Before you begin, Mr. Mondrow, can you give us an estimate of how long you will be?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  I think I said in my estimate to Board Staff, an hour, and I expect to be around that.  So I understand the Panel wants to take lunch at noon.

MS. NOWINA:  But we will wait until you are finished.

MR. MONDROW:  If I am close, I will let you know.

MS. NOWINA:  So that is just a bit of an alert to Mr. Rogers, then.  We are only left with Mr. Thompson.  How long do you expect to be, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I said two hours.  I think I will be close to two hours, perhaps a little less.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Oh, and then there is Board -- I'm sorry.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  It is because you didn't put yourself on the list.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right, and we should have.  I apologize for that.  I suspect we will be at least an hour.  Stuff is being ticked off as we go, but we would currently have more than an hour.  I suspect some of it will be covered, but it won't be a 10- or a 15-minute cross.  It will be more than that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then we will probably go the rest of the day, given that.  All right, Mr. Mondrow.  Go ahead.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, gentlemen.  I wanted to start with a topic regarding the criteria that the Board should apply in approval of, obviously, your Green Energy Plan, but I think the issue on the list is a bit broader than that and I think the Board has invited some discussion in this proceeding of kind of generalization from your plan to the general population of plan.  So that is what I want to talk to you about for a few minutes.

And when you talked with Mr. Buonaguro yesterday, you confirmed, as I recall your evidence, that you considered that an attempt to indeed respond to Board's June 16th guidelines when you finalized and filed your Green Energy Plan.  Is that a correct understanding?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And those guidelines include a discussion of some plan elements and, in some respects, criteria for evaluation, and I just want to start at a very high level and run through four elements that the plan should address or criteria that the Board will apply that, to me, are reflected in those guidelines, and get your view on the appropriateness of the Board considering either those plan elements or that criteria for evaluation.

So the first one I wanted to get your reaction on is whether it is appropriate for the Board to consider and assess the risks to successful completion of the plan as filed.  Is that an appropriate consideration, do you think, in this Board's review?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, in a general sense, I would think it is always appropriate for the Board to look at the risks around whether expenditures will be made would be attendant with successful completion in terms of determining how they want to treat things for ratepayers, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Should the plan -- your plan identifies some risks, I think, to completion, and indeed it discusses your strategies for mitigating those risks or addressing those risks?

MR. GRAHAM:  There always are risks associated with anything we do, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.  I gather you would agree that it is appropriate for the Board to consider the extent to which the plan provides for the appropriate prioritization of initiatives?

MR. GRAHAM:  Within the context we've got, yes.  That's fair.

MR. MONDROW:  And it would be appropriate for the Board to assess whether the plan responds to green energy planning requirements in a timely manner?

MR. GRAHAM:  Timing is an issue, definitely, with respect to these.  Urgency is something that the Minister, among others, have put forward to us as something that is of interest to the government.

MR. MONDROW:  I think you agreed yesterday that it would be appropriate for the Board to consider the extent to which the information and the lessons learned, through execution by you of your plan, are shared as appropriate with other sector participants?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think you are referring to my evidence with respect to the smart grid, specifically.  And it would certainly make sense to me that we're not - to use the words I think that were used at the time - duplicating significantly work between the LDCs in Ontario, to the extent that can be managed and mitigated.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Of course you would agree with me it is appropriate for the Board to evaluate the prudence of the activities and the costs associated with those activities?

MR. GRAHAM:  Of course.

MR. MONDROW:  Great.  That was the easy part.  Thank you.

So I want to get back to a couple of these in a little bit more detail, and the first one I want to talk about is the risks to successful completion.

And as I understand your evidence, on your system, distribution system, presumably on the grid in general in Ontario, there is a connection capacity bottleneck, which is a limit on the speed with which new generation, renewable generation in particular, can be connected; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's a limit with respect to, in this case, what new supply can be incorporated in areas of the province; that's true.

MR. MONDROW:  Your system includes some of those capacity constraints?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, our system being the transmission system - primarily that is what we're talking about - as well as the transmitter, yes.  Our system is most of the transmission in the province.

MR. MONDROW:  Does your distribution have connection capacity constraints for renewable generation?

MR. GRAHAM:  There are, and I think we tried to address some of those in this plan.

MR. MONDROW:  If we look at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, which is your plan, at page 7, beginning at line 11, we see that 42 percent of the connection impact assessment requests received as of April 2009 are outside the threshold for processing because of technical limitations.

I assume that "technical limitations" means insufficient capacity of the distribution system to receive this type of generation; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is actually both the -- this is limits on connection.  So it is actually both on transmission and distribution.  For example, one of the limits would be the transformer at the transformer station, which is a transmission asset.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Fair enough.

Am I correct, though, in understanding that a major part of your plan is -- your distribution system plan is, to the extent it's possible to alleviate these technical limitations through the distribution system, that's what your plan is about?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's certainly a major -- well, it is the major driver, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And to do that, you're going to have to build things at the distribution level?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  If I could ask you to turn to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 8, which is your --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Mondrow, just a second while I find it.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, sure.  This is your work execution strategy.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MONDROW:  And right at the outset of this exhibit, you say, starting at line 6 on the page:
"Hydro One is facing (given the growing distribution capital programs) continuing pressure to do more work, and to do more work more efficiently."


MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I assume that this pressure to do more work and to do it more efficiently is related to work on the distribution system to enable the receipt and connection of additional renewable generation; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That is certainly a major driver.  It is not the only driver for new and additional work, but it is certainly a major driver.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.

And then one of the factors under section 2, still on the same page - this is page 1 of Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 8 - you deal with factors impacting future work programs.

And one of those factors mentioned at line 23 is a limitation on developing internal and external resources, and I take it by that you mean labour, skilled labour resources?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's what that refers to, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And this notion is picked up again at page 3 of the exhibit, where you talk about, starting at line 1, the internal work capacity and the strains on that capacity, and then starting at line 7, the external work capacity and the strains on the availability of skilled labour from outside the company.  Am I reading those passages fairly?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be my impression, yes, reading them, as well.

MR. MONDROW:  And you conclude your discussion there about external work capacity by noting at line 11 that all categories of external resources and services are becoming harder to contract as North American demand increasingly exceeds available supply.

So by that, and the information we have just looked at together, I would assume that to the extent that -- well, I would assume that one of the risks to implementation, timely implementation, of the Green Energy Plan is the availability of skilled labour, both internal to the company and external to the company; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say that is one of the risks.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's talk a little bit about your strategy to address those risks.

I would take you to Exhibit H, tab 11, schedule 1, which was your response to our one, albeit multi-part, interrogatory.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  That's okay.  It's Exhibit H, tab 11.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  Schedule 1 of 1.  In part C of our request, we refer to this evidence that I have just taken you through, which talks about limitations on external resources and internal resources.  We asked you about your plans or proposals to address that risk.

I am going to paraphrase your response to part C.  It seemed to me that, in response, you are basically advising the Board that you have -- you're working with various institutions, training institutions, to facilitate the development of programs to train skilled electrical technicians to -- both to come into Hydro One in the future and to take up positions in the industry at large in the future.

Is that a fair paraphrase of your response?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, Mr. Mondrow, I think -- I hate to continue punting.  It sounds like I am doing a lot of that, but this is really addressed by a later panel.  It has to do with execution, as well as the staffing panel.  I think that is panel 3.  Perhaps, Mr. Rogers --

MR. ROGERS:  Panel 3 would be execution, and then panel 4 would deal with human resources.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  That's fair enough, Mr. Curtis.  But I take it you are responsible for an overview of the plan, which I assume includes the major risks.  And as this is one of the major risks, I would appreciate your comment on these topics, and I have suggested to you that the way -- one of the ways you are addressing this risk of labour constraints is by supporting training.

Can you acknowledge, to that extent, that that's an approach to mitigating this risk that you have recited in your evidence?

MR. GRAHAM:  To that specific question, I think I can say yes.

MR. MONDROW:  I am not going to explore with you the details of the training.  I gather you might be concerned about that.  That's as far as I wanted to take it for today, so thank you for that.

Would you be able to agree with me that another mechanism for knowledge transfer and training is to engage qualified external contractors to work on projects where appropriate?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, that's fair to mention, and as well, that is something that we are planning to do.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

And you agreed with me earlier that timeliness is another criteria that this Board should consider in assessing your plan.  And would you agree that fostering the development of skilled labour, both through training and through appropriate industry engagement, is a strategy for addressing the timeliness of the Green Energy Plan response?

MR. GRAHAM:  I could agree to that.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And similarly, ensuring skilled workforce, both inside the company and external to the company, is a way to maximize the benefits of the experience that you gain in respect of smart meters, in particular, from your Green Energy Act plan, and the Board indeed has signalled that it expects that sharing to occur?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I am not sure I get the drift of your question entirely, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I think you agreed with me that the sharing of your experiences and your lessons learned and the skills developed is an important outcome of the Green Energy Plan and an appropriate outcome for the Board to consider?

MR. GRAHAM:  I agree on that, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And you advised Mr. Warren yesterday that the company's open to sharing reports on smart metering with other local distribution companies.  I think you caveated that not all of that work will be applicable to other distributors, but to the extent it is, you are quite prepared and you think it is appropriate to share those reports and those learnings?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that was our testimony yesterday, right.

MR. MONDROW:  Would you agree with me it would also be useful to share experience and learnings in respect of Green Energy Plan implementation with the electrical contracting industry and skilled labour industry at large?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, you are asking me for details with respect to execution that I don't really have.  I mean to the extent that the contractors are working on smart grid-related activities or could provide resources to your point on that, I think that might be a reasonable assertion.

But it is, again, an execution area that I don't deal with.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, would the sharing of your experiences and your learnings be a way to leverage the expenditures on your Green Energy Plan for the benefit of the province at large, to have more skilled labour and more -- more trained labour?

MR. GRAHAM:  If it goes to the efficiency and effectiveness of doing the work, that's fair.

I am really not in a position to judge that, though.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

Well, is the sharing of best practices one of the drivers for your strategy on contracting out work, in respect to the Green Energy Plan, in particular?

MR. GRAHAM:  I know you are trying to make it specific, but that is an area I really can't comment on.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I am looking at your Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 8.  This is your work execution strategy again.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  So you would be more comfortable if I addressed questions of this nature to a later panel?

MR. GRAHAM:  In general.  I mean I will try to be helpful, but in general, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  If we just -- so let's just try in general.  If we look at Page 5 under the "Contracting out" section, which begins at line 9, and you talk about contracting out and beginning at line 14, you say:

"This will allow more internal resources to be available to execute core sustainment work..."

Simply by deferring some other work externally.
"... and will enable sharing of best practices between internal and external work execution groups."

And I took that to mean, and I will ask you to acknowledge, that sharing of best practices is one of the salutorious benefits of appropriate contracting out strategy.  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it certainly indicates that here, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And would you agree with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  It sounds reasonable to me.

MR. MONDROW:  I will take that as a "yes".  Thank you very much.

Let me ask you one more contracting out-type question.  Would you agree that outsourcing in the appropriate circumstances can result in cost efficiencies for execution of the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's, again, an area I can't really comment on.

MR. MONDROW:  Can you turn with me to -- still on the same exhibit, which is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 8, page 3.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And under the "Implementation" section, section 3, at line 18:

"Hydro One distribution continues to proactively pursue labour cost efficiencies (via appropriate overall compensation, outsourcing, and use of multi skilled staff) while managing the resourcing requirements of an increasing work program and given the potential for significant retirements in the existing workforce."

And I took it from that evidence that included in that list of a way to drive cost efficiencies is outsourcing; would you agree with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  In general.  Again, I think I would make the point that I think -- well, I don't know.  This is not my evidence.  But with respect to the outsourcing, it can drive cost efficiencies in terms of things like avoiding overtime, as well as being just cheaper to do work.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I wanted to ask you a couple of questions about the collective agreement parameters around contracting out.

And you provided excerpts from those collective agreements, both with the Power Workers' Union and the Society, in response to our interrogatory.  And again, that is Exhibit H, tab 11, schedule 1.  So I wonder if you could open that up and --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, could I just interrupt Mr. Mondrow?

These questions really are better directed to panel 4, where we have the people within the company who are responsible for resourcing and who understand these collective agreements.  I don't think that Mr. Graham will know very much more about them than I do.  We have a specific panel to deal with these kinds of issues.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow, we don't want to have to ask the questions twice, if you are not going to get the answers you need today.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, Madam Chair, and I am happy to come back for that.

I guess I was trying to explore this area, which admittedly is quite a discreet one, in the context of assessing risks associated with the plan.  But if the company is more comfortable with me addressing that to another panel, I am happy to do that.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I just think the Board will getter information from the people who'd know the -- the area.

MS. NOWINA:  It would appear so.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I am happy to do that.

Let me move on to the second of two areas that I wanted to explore with you, gentlemen.  Thank you.

And for that, I wonder if you could have available your previous version of Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, which is your Green Energy Plan, as well as your current version.  And I just want to explore some of the changes between the previous filing and the current filing, and try to understand those.

So I will try to flip back and forth and I will try to do it without confusing everybody, and if you could bear with me and try to assist me, that would be great.

So I want to start with your previously filed version, which says that it was filed on July 13th, 2009.  And I want to start at page 13.

Just before I turn to the evidence, I just want to set the context for this and confirm what I understood from your discussion with Mr. Warren yesterday in respect of the capital costs included in your Green Energy Plan.

And as I understand your testimony in this respect, those capital costs are what you referred to as "gross costs", and my understanding of your use of that term "gross" is that it in -- your costs in the plan include costs to be recovered from Hydro One distribution customers, as well as costs to be recovered through regulated charges, but from Ontario electricity consumers at large.  Is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But exclude connection costs paid for by the generators themselves?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, actually the table on page 1 of schedule A-14, tab 2 -- or schedule 2, sorry, does include the generator-funded costs as well, but we are not asking for approval from this Board with respect to those costs.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, but that is provided for context in this case?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  But there's no -- as you say, there is no approval of the Board required in that respect.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if -- if we can then turn to the July 13th version of your Green Energy Plan, and I want to start, as I said, at page 13 of that version and I want to talk a little bit about connection assets for renewable energy generation and just understand the categories of assets that we're talking about here in the context of this plan.

So if you start at line 9 under "Connection assets" the evidence says that:

"As defined in the DSC, connection assets are the assets between the point of connection on a distributor's main distribution system and the ownership demarcation point with the customer."


And just pausing there, can you confirm for me, Mr. Curtis, perhaps, that the DSC amendments that have most recently influenced a change in your plan have not changed in respect to the definition of connection assets.  Mr. Salt?

MR. SALT:  Yes, I can answer that.  And that's not correct.  They have changed.

MR. MONDROW:  And the definition of connection assets has changed in the DSC?

MR. SALT:  Yes.  Yes.  The original definition was that the connection assets were the extension of the power system from Hydro One's last point to the -- up to and including the generator.

Connection assets in the revised version of the DSC refer to just the connection assets at the generator.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Sorry, Madam Chair, I wonder if I could -- I am looking at the version of the DSC that is posted on the Board's website, and I did check before and I checked for some new definitions that have been promulgated with the most recent amendments.

And I thought this version on the website was an up-to-date version.  I wonder if I could ask Staff to confirm that or set me straight, because the definition I am looking at in fact hasn't changed.

MR. MILLAR:  We can pull up the definition from the website.  I am not aware of it having changed.  Ms. Lea is, in fact, our resident expert on that and she has stepped out for a moment.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

MS. NOWINA:  I am sure that someone can find it for you, Mr. Mondrow.  We do need to clarify it.

MR. ROGERS:  Do you happen to have it, Mr. Salt?

MR. SALT:  No, I don't.  Sorry.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, why don't we -- why don't I -- I will try to move on a bit, but I would like to come back to that after lunch, and I will do some more work in the interim and hopefully try to verify this.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you help, Mr. Salt, at all, with any detail as to what you are referring to?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, is the question directed at me Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No, to the witness.  I was trying to help to get by this impasse.  He may have an excerpt, Madam Chair, where he can direct us to.

MS. NOWINA:  And he could give us the source of that excerpt.

MR. GRAHAM:  I am looking at the amendments, the final amendments to the codes, which were published on October 21st, 2009.  I believe in there the definition of "expansion" changed, and "renewable enabling improvement" changed, but the definition of "connection", I don't see a change in this.

MR. MONDROW:  That's my understanding, as well, that the definition of "connection assets" didn't change.  Mr. Salt, perhaps after lunch you can maybe just come back to us and advise us if you still believe that definition has changed.

MR. SALT:  Sure.  I don't...  I don't have the exact references here, but my understanding of the change in the Distribution System code was that the extension of the Hydro One system up to the generator became expansion.

And previous to that, we considered that as a connection asset, or that was -- yes, that was my understanding.  Maybe I have it confused, but that was my understanding.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. SALT:  But we will clarify that.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry, Madam Chair, I had a series of questions keying off of this, and I know it is a bit early, but I wonder if it would be inconvenient to take the break now and perhaps we can try to verify this over the break.

It would be a lot faster, I think, in the end if we came back to it.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that?  That's fine, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  So we will break until -- my watch says 11:40, and we will break until 12:45.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:40 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 12:51 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Did anything come up during the break?

MR. ROGERS:  No, except that Mr. Salt has had a chance to review this connection situation, and I wonder if he could be given a chance to explain his reasoning.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And then, Mr. Mondrow, you will continue.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Salt, you had a chance over the noon hour to have a look at this connection issue that was discussed before lunch?

MR. SALT:  When I responded --

MS. NOWINA:  Microphone, please.

MR. ROGERS:  Put your microphone on and speak slowly.

MR. SALT:  Thanks.  When I responded before, I was referring to what my understanding of the effect of the changes were.

The actual changes to the code made no change to the definition of connection assets.  What was changed was the definition of expansion assets.  And if you have a line from A to B, A being our existing system and B being the generator, what the change in the definitions caused was which pieces of that line from A to B are connection and expansion assets.

And that's where my confusion came from.

MR. ROGERS:  So the definition that Mr. Mondrow was referring to was not changed, but as I understand what you've said, the practical reality is for people in the field building these things is that there is a change?

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I hope that is clear.

MR. MONDROW:  I am going to proceed.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  And I appreciate the indulgence for the early break, and Mr. Salt, I appreciate your reviewing the documents.

So let's just try to finish that off in the next few minutes, if we could.  So I want to take the original code and the new code, and I just want to really nail down the changes that you just talked about.

And in the original code, there were kind of two -- two relevant categories of work.  They were -- and they were defined as connections and expansions.  And in the new code, there are connections and expansions, although as you pointed out, the definition of expansions has changed, and I am going to come back to that in a second.  And in addition, there are renewable enabling improvements.  Are you okay with me so far?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's go back to the original code.  The definition of connection assets, you agree with me now, has not changed between the original code and the new code?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I'm just on the original code; we will come to the new code in a minute and give you every opportunity to explain your understanding, but just sticking with me on the original code, originally, both connections and expansions were generally paid for by the generator.  Is that your understanding?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And there was an exception to that in respect of expansions, where another generator or a load, I guess, hooked on to the new line, there would be a rebate to the initial capital contribution by the generator?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  But for that, though, the cost responsibility rested with the generator for connecting new a generation facility to the distribution system?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.  And that's -- that's, of course, the primary change that we're going to talk about now, because under the new Green Energy policy some of that previously generator cost responsibility is being shifted, as it were, to the public, either through your rates or through a kind of more global -- not GAM, but a more global recovery mechanism.  Is that fair?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.  So let's just stay with connections for a minute, and then we will talk about expansions and we can -- we can clarify that, if that's all right.

So just to go back to your original Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, which was the July 13th version, where I started and probably got us a little bit confused, so it is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  I am on page 13 and I am looking at line 9 under "Connection assets", which was the definition we started off on just before the lunch break.

And I had read in, starting at line 9, the text in your evidence, your previous evidence that says:

"As defined in the DSC, connection assets are the assets between the point of connection on a distributor's main --"

MR. SALT:  Sorry, I am I am not following you.  You are on A-14-2, page --

MR. MONDROW:  I am on the original version of your Green Energy Plan, which was the July 13th version.  And I just -- again, I want to compare some of the changes and in particular, some of the numbers.  And I am going to come to that in a second.

MR. SALT:  Can you just give me a minute, please?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure, yeah.  It is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, and it's page 13, and this is the July 13th version.

MR. SALT:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  Page 13, line 9, which says:

"As defined in the DSC, connection assets are the assets between the point of connection on a distributor's main distribution system and the ownership demarcation point with the customer."

Now, that definition, we have agreed, has not changed.

MR. SALT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:

"Connection assets provide for the connection of a specific generation facility to the distribution system.  Generators are currently responsible for the full cost of connection facilities and will continue to be so under the Board's proposed DSC amendments, issued June 5th, 2009."

And Mr. Salt, that's still the case under the now-amended DSC; correct?

MR. SALT:  I believe so, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And then if we drop down to line 19, still in respect of connection assets, it says:

"Hydro One Distribution is accountable for the non-contestable connection asset work associated with tapping Hydro One's distribution system and for providing any isolating devices required.  The gross capital cost of work on connection assets is 13.3 million in 2010 and 26.8 million in 2011."

And if you flip over the page, still in the original Green Energy Plan, to page 14, there is a table which contains, rounded, those numbers that I just read.  And it says under the "2010" column:

"Gross capital investment is 13, generator-funded costs is 13..."

This is in millions.
"...and so the net capital investment is zero."

And you see similar numbers in 2011 and in the third period of your plan, and in all cases, the generator covers all of these costs.  With me so far?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I just want to compare that to the updated evidence.  You can keep your hand there, but if you turn to your updated evidence filed September 25th, and you go to page 15, we see the same table and indeed the same numbers.

So in respect of connection assets, nothing has changed.  I will just ask you to confirm that.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And indeed the description under that table, it's in a different place now, but it says the same thing:

"Generators are responsible for all costs associated with connection assets.  As such, the costs associated with work on the main distribution system to physically tap and isolate connection assets are covered by capital contributions from customers and result in no net capital additions to Hydro One Distribution's rate base and no impact on distribution rates."

Correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Great, okay.

So that's the connection assets, and we have seen that there is no change.  So now let's talk about what has changed, and that would be the expansions.  So I am going to ask you to go back to the July 13th version of your Green Energy Plan, this time at page 15.

And at page 15 there is a table and that table contains total capital costs for expansion work included in the plan, and we see a "Gross capital investment" line and then an "External funding" line.  This would be the socialized portion of the costs; is that right?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And then a net capital investment, and those numbers have changed.  They have been updated and they have been increased; is that correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And we can see the new numbers in the current plan, the September 25th version, at page 19, I believe; is that right?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So in 2010, the net capital investment is the same as under the old evidence, but both the gross capital investment and the externally funded portion have gone up, right?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And in 2011, there's actually -- the net capital investment has actually increased from 13 million to 25 million, and the other numbers have changed as well?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Increased?  And similarly in the third period of your plan, the 2012 to 2014 period, those costs, both the gross and the net, have changed.  They have increased?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that increase is primarily -- well, is, in fact, exclusively the result of costs that were previously the responsibility of the generator and now being what I call socialized or recovered, either from your ratepayers or electricity ratepayers at large under the government's policy; correct?


MR. SALT:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And there are two types of expansions under the new Distribution System code, as I understand it.  Expansions that are approved as part of your Green Energy Plan are recovered in rates 100 percent, either from your customers or from all electricity customers; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  That's what you were talking about, Mr. Curtis, I think earlier with Mr. DeVellis.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm Mr. Graham, but other than that, that's fine.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, Mr. Graham, that's fine.  Sorry.  Thank you.

And the other type of connection -- sorry, the other type of expansions are expansions that are not approved as part of a Green Energy Plan, and those are the expansions to which the cap applies.

When I say "cap", my understanding is the distributor pays up to $90,000 per megawatt for connecting a particular generator, and any costs in excess of that are paid by...

MR. SALT:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Mondrow, I think your microphone is off.  Each table shares a microphone.

MR. MONDROW:  I will start all over again.  No, I won't.  I think the reporter heard me, that's okay.  Good, because I don't think I could do that again.  Thank you.

So the results of the Distribution System code changes is to - and I'm just repeating myself now, but I will just confirm it one more time - is to increase the costs that are the responsibility of the distributor, either directly for your own customers or for customers at large?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And, indeed, in respect of some categories of expansion, the changes will render those expansions fully funded in rates?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Without any capital contribution by the generator?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  And am I right that one of the impacts of that change will be to lessen the amount of connection work that is, under the Distribution System code, subject to alternative bid?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Because the connection work, subject to alternative bid, is connection work in respect of which the generator must make a capital contribution?

MR. SALT:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. MONDROW:  The connection work that is subject to alternative bid entitlement on the part of the generator is connection work with respect to which the generator is required to make a capital contribution?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And so the impact of having more work in the fully funded -- fully rate-funded category is to have less work available for alternative bid?

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Great.

Can you -- I couldn't find this in the evidence, so if you can either point it out to me, if it's there, or perhaps elaborate if it isn't.  Can you explain to us the criteria that you feel are appropriate for determining what expansion work should be approved as part of a plan and what expansion work should be treated conventionally, subject to the $90,000 cap, that is not pre-approved and subject to generator contribution?

MR. SALT:  Our approach was to follow the Distribution System code and that all projects would be limited to $90,000 per megawatt.  Whether it's one generator or multiple generators would make -- we weren't going to distinguish between those two.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think if I was going to add to what Mr. Salt said, effectively what we've done is -- in the plan is say that other than the feeders, dedicated feeders, which I mentioned from a dedicated enabling TS, where we're saying it is above the $90,000 per megawatt, all the other expansions in our plan are limited to the $90,000 per megawatt in terms of the ratepayer funding.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, let me just drill down on that with you.

Could you turn to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2?  This is your -- I am now going to stay with your updated plan, page 16.  This is under the expansion category.

There are a series of bullets there, which I gather is your working list of what constitutes -- sorry, what constitutes an expansion to connect renewable energy generation.  The second last bullet refers to express feeders, and I think earlier you referred to enabler feeders.  Is that the same thing?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  I think -- I actually talked about dedicated feeders from an enabling TS, and that's the same thing, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So dedicated feeders, enabling feeders, express feeders, we're talking about the same project?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, dedicated feeders are express feeders.  I'm not sure, and Mr. Salt could maybe correct me, that all of the express feeders are dedicated feeders, if I can confuse you some more.

MR. MONDROW:  Let's not get into that, because that may confuse me, and that may be great for you, but not for me.

So let me come back to this.  I just want to understand what you're saying.  I am trying to determine how you figure out what expansion facilities you are going to get approved as part of the Green Energy Plan and what expansion facilities you're not.

So maybe you can try that again.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think I was trying to, and perhaps not clearly, answer that before.  What we were trying to do with this plan is effectively say that other than our plans for a dedicated enabling TS with dedicated feeders - where we feel the cost is likely to exceed $90,000 per megawatt, but we feel it is getting a large amount of renewable generation at one time and, therefore, putting it forward for a plan for consideration by this Board - everything else is within the $90,000 per megawatt in terms of funding.

So extensions to lines, new single feeders from existing TSes, and things like that, are all priced at $90,000 or less.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is helpful, because the criteria that I heard from what you described is where you can get a large amount of renewable generation at one time - i.e., with one expansion - that would be an appropriate expansion to include in the Green Energy Plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, our understanding of the government's direction is to look at ways of enabling large amounts of new renewables to come on the system, and we feel this is the most cost-effective way of getting those; that's right.

MR. MONDROW:  So do you have kind of a working definition of what a large amount is?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can give you a number.  I believe that the dedicated new enabling TS with the feeders is meant to enable about 240 megawatts for each of those.

MR. MONDROW:  And it's your expectation that subject to the time it will take to build the generation and connect it, each of those enablers will be fully subscribed with new renewable generation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Basically they need to be subscribed at least to the level that we've got in the plan, effectively, yes.  I mean, if we had, say, 120 megawatts of generation, that would be, I would assume at this point, subject to further -- that that would be insufficient to go forward and build enabling TS.

MR. MONDROW:  Those enabling TSes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  Because they're capable taking 240?

MR. GRAHAM:  Your cost per megawatt wouldn't be anywhere near 140,000.  I guess you're asking me to speculate around things I am not totally expert on.

MR. MONDROW:  No.  I am simply asking you to tell us what your criteria is for determining when this is a social project as opposed to a --

MR. GRAHAM:  The plan is, the expectation is, that they will be fully subscribed.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you say $140,000 per megawatt?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe it is $145,000 per megawatt.  If you take the $34.7 million of distribution funded, work on the new feeders, divided by the 240 megawatts, I think you come up with $145,000 per megawatt.

MR. MONDROW:  So you are using as a working definition the 240 megawatt amount as the amount that justifies a Green Energy Plan expansion facility?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it wasn't arrived at by choosing a number, and then working from that.

It was try to find the most effective way to add the new renewable generation, and then take a look at what it would achieve and see:  Is that sufficient to put it forward in this plan?  In our judgment, yes, it was.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I gather that you would need to be able to connect at least two renewable generation facilities to even consider this as a Green Energy Plan enhancement project as opposed to a conventional project.  Is that a good starting point?

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand the code actually to say one or more.  I think that's the wording now under expansions.  It used to be "connections", so we would interpret that as plural.  Now it says one or more, so we are considering that to be singular.

MR. MONDROW:  To be clear, I am talking about an expansion that will be a Green Energy Plan approved expansion, and I don't think there are criteria for that in the DSC, are there?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  No, okay.  But you've got a number in your plan, and I am asking what criteria you used.  And I think what you told me is, We want to connect a number of them.  And I am asking you what that number is.  It's at least two, I assume?  Is it more than two?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Mondrow, if I am understanding your question, again, other than what I have already talked about, the enabling TS with the dedicated feeders, anything else that is in there is priced such that it is within the Board's guideline, the Board's cap, to use your word, of $90,000 per megawatt.

In other words, if we don't get there, we either need to top it up with the generator or it is not happening.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  In respect to understanding at least Hydro One's view of a Green Energy Plan expansion, we should look at these enabler or express feeder projects; right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be a good thing for the Board to focus on, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you have said that each of these is to be designed and built to be capable of connecting 240 megawatts of new renewable generation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Just let me -- yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And your expectation is that each of the six feeders in the early years -- and there's some more, I think you said, in the later years -- will be subscribed to that level?

MR. GRAHAM:  Effectively, yeah, the six feeders in total gives you the 240 megawatts, so I am assuming it is roughly 40 megawatts per feeder.

MR. MONDROW:  It's 40 megawatts per feeder.  And when you say a "feeder" that is one line of poles and one conductor coming from a -- is it a transformation system?

MR. GRAHAM:  Transformation station, transmission station, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And do you have any working criteria in respect of the size of the projects that you consider when determining what expansion should be a Green Energy Plan expansion?  So do they have to be small ones?  Can it be one or two large ones?  Have you turned your minds to that?

MR. GRAHAM:  There is -- as we understand the FIT program and so on, there is no size criteria other than the caps that are there in the FIT program with respect to water -- large water power and solar projects.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So when you say "40 megawatts per feeder" are you assuming that is more than one renewable generation project?

MR. GRAHAM:  We don't need to assume that.  It could be one or it could be more.

MR. MONDROW:  So even if it is one, you are proposing that it's appropriate to have the full cost of that feeder absorbed by ratepayers?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what our proposition is, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And I suggested to you a moment ago that -- and you agreed with me that one of the impacts -- probably not the primary impact from your perspective, but perhaps from my client's perspective -- one of the impacts of moving these expansion projects into a Green Energy Plan approval context is to lessen the amount of alternative bid work available.

Do you think from a Green Energy Planning perspective -- we talked before the lunch break about managing the risk of knowledge transfer and skilled resources and so on, by, among other things, contracting out.  And we had some discussion about that, and I'm going to come back with specifics for another panel.  But I think you agreed with me that was a reasonable factor for the Board to consider when it evaluates your proposal?

MR. GRAHAM:  What I agreed with -- and you took me to other evidence which showed that that is certainly something that we see as valuable, at least in some circumstances --

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.

MR. GRAHAM:  And that is in the evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So to the extent that that objective or that result is compromised or lessened by this socialization that we've been talking about, would it be appropriate, in your view -- would that enhance the appropriateness, in your view, of the Board considering the distributor's policies for engaging external skilled labour in these Green Energy Plans?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, generally you are in an area I am not an expert on.  I will make one comment, which is I know what you are trying to get me to do.

With respect to the fact that we do work not just by, if you will, having a generator contract things to external parties, but in fact Hydro One can contract stuff to external parties too, and things can be done by external parties.  And thus, they can get knowledge transfer for those mechanisms.

It is really something you are better to follow up, though, with the later panels.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Fair enough, fair enough.

I appreciate your help with that, gentlemen.

Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Panel, I hope you can hear me, but if you can't, tell me to shout.

I would like to just begin by telling you the area of primary concern of my client, and that is with respect to Issue 9.5.  That's one of the issues that's listed in the Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1, which is the Panel 1 issues and evidence pertaining thereto.

Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am sure you've got that correct, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.

And just for the record, that issue reads:
"What is the Board's role with respect to the approval of the Green Energy Plan?  What criteria should the Board use when determining whether to approve the Green Energy Plan?  If the Board approves the plan, what are the impacts of that approval?"

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my focus is primarily impacts, and I want to have a series of questions at a conceptual level, and then moving from that to your -- conceptual level to elements of your plan.

At the conceptual level can I ask you this question:  Should the Board, in evaluating the impacts on consumers of the Green Energy Act and transmission and distribution Green Energy Plans, look at all of the impacts?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's a difficult question for me to answer.  All of the impacts -- I'm assuming you're talking about not just the wires investments and of course the transmission investments that are outside the scope of this hearing, but you're talking also about the commodity costs, et cetera?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, all of the impacts on the bill.

MR. GRAHAM:  It certainly makes sense to me that those that are making policy decisions for the province would consider that.

We are not cognizant of what's -- considerations go into a number of those elements.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But my question was:   Should the Board consider the impacts, all of the impacts on the bill in connection with Issue 9.5?

We will be submitting that they should, and I wondered what Hydro One's position is on that point.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm assuming the Board will follow their mandate and their statutory duties.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, would you agree with me that to understand the effects of the overall -- the overall effects on the electricity bill of these Green Energy Plans, there are two things that -- at least two things that need to be looked at?

The first is the impact on the bill of transforming the power system to attach more and more renewable energy.  Would you agree that's one of the impacts?

MR. GRAHAM:  On the bill?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Of course.

MR. THOMPSON:  And a second one is spending more and more money on conservation demand management.  That shows up on the bill?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I just want to move from that, then, to a series of questions about these impacts.

We have identified seven of them, and I want to just -- at a conceptual level, and I want to discuss each of them with you.  And I call these Green Energy impacts one to seven.  That's my little seven pillars of wisdom.

And the first one is this proposition:  Would you agree that the faster distributors build and attach renewable energy generation, the steeper the rise in the overall commodity costs of electricity?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't necessarily like the word "commodity" used there, but obviously, to the extent we spend money and need to recover it from people, that is going to increase costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I was distinguishing between transmission distribution and commodity.  What's the word that would be better than "commodity"?

MR. GRAHAM:  I tend to use "wires" as a general term.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So wires would be the regulated side of it, right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what's the unregulated or the commodity side of it?  What's the word to use?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know if I would call it unregulated, but I use "commodity" to cover cost of supply.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, just in connection, then, with this rule, are we correct that the Ontario Power Authority sets prices for what it will pay for renewable energy?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to Ministerial directive, I believe that is the case under the FIT program, for example.

MR. THOMPSON:  And are we correct that neither Hydro One nor the Board have control over these prices or the terms of these procurement contracts?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can really only speak for Hydro One.  It is certainly true that we don't.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the prices that are being paid, whether it is through RESOP or FIT or micro-FIT or whatever else comes down -- I don't like to say "pipe" because I am a gas man, but whatever it is comes up, these prices are being paid -- they're public prices.  Are we correct there?

MR. GRAHAM:  The FIT prices are published, if that's what you mean.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And different prices for solar and wind and biomass and perhaps for other forms of renewable energy?

MR. GRAHAM:  Different technologies get different prices; as do different sizes of project; as do, for example, Aboriginal and community projects get an adder.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are those prices materially greater than HOEP?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, you are asking for -- I mean, it is obvious on the face of it that generally, according to the current HOEP, the prices are higher than that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  What is the current HOEP, approximately?

MR. GRAHAM:  I honestly don't know, but it's...

MR. THOMPSON:  Roughly.

MR. GRAHAM:  Five cents, four cents.  I don't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  I have it in my mind the price HOEP is paying for solar is 80 cents.  Does that ring a bell with you?

MR. GRAHAM:  For small solar.  That is for the smallest installations.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for big solar, do you know what it is?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it is 40-odd cents.  I don't have it at hand.

MR. THOMPSON:  For wind and biomass, it that -- I have it it is in the order of 12 to 14 cents.  Is that sort of ballpark?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right for onshore wind, for sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

So that when this type of energy generation comes on source, are we correct that whatever the OPA pays becomes part of the cost of electricity consumers pay on their bill?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, you're asking for something that's outside my specific understanding.  I believe that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you folks talk in your evidence about the global adjustment mechanism in several places.

MR. GRAHAM:  We talk about the use of that mechanism in terms of funding programs that are delivered by the transmitter and distributor, I think the distributor in this case.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you folks understand its components?

MR. GRAHAM:  We understand the component --

MR. THOMPSON:  At a conceptual level?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's a personal question.  I mean, obviously I have some understanding of some of the stuff that goes in there, but with respect to the accountabilities of Hydro One, we're only interested in those funds that come from the global adjustment mechanism and fund our programs.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand that's what you folks are interested in, but customers may have a broader interest.

My understanding is that the OPA procurement costs are recovered as a pass-through as part of the global adjustment mechanism.  Is that your understanding?

MR. GRAHAM:  They are certainly recovered from provincial ratepayers.  I am actually not sure if it is global adjustment or some other mechanism.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So can we agree the faster you attach these higher price renewables, the steeper the rise in overall costs of electricity commodity, as a conceptual impact?

MR. GRAHAM:  It makes sense to me as a statement.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Well, that's number 1.

Number 2 is the faster you build to attach -- my first one was build and attach.  But the faster you build to attach renewable energy generation, the steeper the rise in transmission and distribution revenue requirements.  Would you agree that that is, at a conceptual level, an impact of the Green Energy Initiatives and Green Energy Plans?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think I have already agreed that the faster we spend money in wires infrastructure that goes to ratepayers, the faster rates go up, sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  In Hydro One's conceptual approach here, the revenue requirement impacts of those -- the facilities that are built to attach renewable energy sources, part of it is going to be recovered in the regulated transmission and distribution rates?  Just stopping there, have I got that straight?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then another portion of it is going to be recovered in an external funding mechanism?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be true for distribution.  We don't do that for transmission, at least I don't believe we do, because we already basically do -- transmission rates are charged to all customers who use transmission in the province.

MR. THOMPSON:  You're right.  It is whatever transmission increase Green Energy Initiatives trigger gets flowed into distribution rates; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, maybe you could repeat that, Mr. Thompson.  I'm not sure I caught it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sure.  The transmission charges -- well, to distributors would flow -- would be charged by distributors to end users in their distribution rates?

MR. GRAHAM:  They're passed through as transmission charges; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And transmission -- the green energy component of transmission charges that increase because of the Green Energy Initiatives that are -- that are charged directly to end users would show up in their bills?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would expect that's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, just on this, at the conceptual level of the revenue requirement recovery in the external funding mechanism, that is part of what is presented in your evidence in this case?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can we agree that revenue requirement is a regulatory concept that relates to a rate base?

MR. GRAHAM:  You are now straying a little outside of my area of expertise.  It is certainly a regulatory concept.  I am not sure about the relationship to rate base.  I am assuming it relates to rate base in terms of rates of return need -- how do you get the revenue requirement, et cetera?

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, some of the others asked you:  What is it you are asking the Board to approve?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I took it, from the answers, that one of the things that you are asking the Board to approve is this concept that the revenue requirement related to facilities built to add renewable generation - that is, to be recovered in the external funding mechanism - that concept be approved by the Board.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. GRAHAM:  Perhaps my counsel could help me here.  Effectively, I understand there's a proceeding as part of this -- sorry, part of this proceeding happening in January to look at the issue with respect to the split to external ratepayers, and there is also a Board process with respect to that concept, generally.

I am assuming those, it is my assumption, will come together and something will fall out of that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the split is one thing to me, but before you get to the split, you have to have the revenue requirement concept for recovery in an external funding mechanism.

MR. GRAHAM:  Which I think the concept is introduced in the regulation that's already been passed by the Ontario legislature, I think.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is the -- so if I understand what you are saying, then, you would say that's already approved by government regulation, that concept?

MR. GRAHAM:  Government regulation has set the groundwork that there could be such a recovery, and it is up to the Board to determine how that's appropriately implemented, I believe.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you for that.

In terms of the impact of this measure - that is, the revenue requirement recovery through an external funding mechanism on consumer bills - are we correct that there will be not only Hydro One's green energy component in there, but there will be the green energy component of all of the other Ontario distributors?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be my expectation, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Now, in terms of Hydro One's proportion of Ontario distribution overall, you did provide in -- it is our interrogatory.  I will just get the exhibit here, excuse me.

It is Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 2.  In response to question (a) on page 3, you indicate that Hydro One's distribution customers total 1,187,253 of a total customers of 4,693,045.  Have I read that correctly?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  Other than, sorry, I would mention that it is Hydro One Networks' customers.  That's what the response says.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What's the significance of that?

MR. GRAHAM:  You said Hydro One, and that would include Hydro One Brampton, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, okay.  So what's Hydro One -- Hydro One Brampton, though, is a separate distribution?

MR. GRAHAM:  Separate distribution company, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of Hydro One Networks, I did the math.  It is about -- I think it is about 25 percent on a customer basis.  Is that sort of the ballpark?

MR. GRAHAM:  That is a rough number, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then over on page 7, the bottom of the page in H, you tell us that Hydro One's load on a GWh basis represents about 25 percent of the provincial total.

So whether it is customers or load on a GWh basis, it is about 25 percent; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't see the divisor there.  I didn't -- do we say that?  Let me just --

MR. THOMPSON:  Right at the -- well, page 7, last two lines:

"Hydro One's load on a GWh basis represents about 25 percent of the provincial total."

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry?  I am...

MR. ROGERS:  There is an update.  It is page 8 of the update.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  Sorry.


MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I was just looking in the wrong place.  Yes, I can agree to that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so big picture, if every other distributor in Ontario did exactly what you folks have done on Green Energy initiatives, then the pot -- if I can call it that -- to be recovered through the external funding mechanism by way of revenue requirement would be about four times your piece of the pot?

MR. GRAHAM:  The one caveat I would make to that is that we have seen a preponderant interest in adding new renewable generation, particularly larger renewable generation which needs land, on Hydro One's system, because we serve the rural parts of the province.  So you might not see the same sizeable increase in some of the other distributors' rates and requirements.

MR. THOMPSON:  I take that -- that caveat.

My question was based on the assumption, though, that if everybody did exactly the same as you, the multiple would be about four.

MR. GRAHAM:  If I multiply four times that, yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

All right.  That, then, moves me to green impact number 3, and it is -- the suggested impact is this, that the revenue requirement recovery from consumers through an external mechanism, compared to a government-funded external mechanism, materially increases the burden on consumers, because the revenue requirement approach attracts equity return on 40 percent of the investment, plus income taxes.

Can you accept that as an impact?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, okay.  This is, again, straying into areas that are beyond my expertise with respect to government costs of money, but I would think that as the government's need for funds increases, unless they increase taxes, they need to find ways of funding that through debt, and that debt cost could go up.

So I don't know, would be the answer.

MR. THOMPSON:  My proposition is if it was done wholly on government-guaranteed debt or wholly on government taxes, the impact on consumers would be less than a revenue requirement approach that includes equity return and related taxes.  That's a concept; do you accept that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  Yes, with respect to electricity consumers in isolation, I think I could accept that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Green impact number 4 is this:  The faster you construct to attach capacity -- the faster you construct capacity to attach potential renewable energy generation, the greater the risk of overbuilding and creating excess or idle capacity.

Can you accept that is --

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I mean I think there is a lot of mitigation built into the program with respect to that risk.

We are, for example, on expansions making sure that we have generators signed up for the $90,000 per megawatt before we go and build.  We are making sure that generators have feed-in tariff contracts and have made the appropriate security deposits.

So there are a lot of things done to make sure that that risk doesn't materialize.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just at the conceptual level, if -- I just want to draw your attention to a couple of documents in this attachment that -- of excerpts from confidential filings that Mr. Rogers handed out this morning.

I can't recall whether that was given an exhibit number or not.

MS. NOWINA:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't believe so.

MS. NOWINA:  We don't have it, I believe, at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  No, I have copies here, Madam Chair, and we have not given it an exhibit number.  Exhibit K2.3, and this is, as I understand it, non-confidential excerpts from confidential documents, and there are a series of these documents.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  At each one, you will see, Madam Chair, on the top right hand corner it has a handwritten description of the document from which they were drawn.

Now -- now, there's been a mistake made, but -- hold the press.  On the second of those documents, EB-2009-0096, it has a "4" in the right hand corner.  There is a page attached to that, which shouldn't be there.  That was just put there, I think, to identify where it came from.  But could that be removed from the public record?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  That is your mistake.  You will have to go in the penalty box.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  It's a misdemeanour compared to a felony.

MR. THOMPSON:  You cannot see any more documents.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the page, please?

MR. ROGERS:  The second document, it's number 4.  Just the second page was there just to identify the document.  I think -- I believe there is some confidential information there.  I can't bring myself to read it again, but could you just remove it, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Page 2.

MR. BUONOGURO:  Could I ask if there are copies for the rest of us?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, since these are three different documents with three different identifiers, can we give them separate exhibit numbers?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course.  Exhibit K2.3 will be excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  Excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K2.4 will be excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  Excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 2.

MR. MILLAR:  And finally, 2.5 will be excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44, attachment 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  Excerpts from Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44, attachment 1.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have these papers, Mr. Graham?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  The one I wanted to draw your attention to is Exhibit K2.5.  Mr. Warren referred to this in his examination previously.  This is --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, this is the memo to the regulatory environment committee you're talking about?

MR. THOMPSON:  It is entitled "Submission to the regulatory and environment committee."

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I've got it.

MR. THOMPSON:  April 1, 2009.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

And in terms of the key highlights here -- now, this is dated April 1, so it i9s -- it is before your Green Energy Plan was finalized for presentation here.  And I understand that.

And this submission, if I look at the second paragraph in the "Reasons for report" section appears to have been prompted by the first reading of the Bill on February the 23 -- that's my conclusion.  Is that appropriate?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair enough.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But down at the bottom of the page, in describing the key highlights, it's noted that:

"While Hydro One intends to respond proactively, there are many matters that have yet to be addressed and that this uncertain environment may result in omissions and some loss of precision."

Is that a fair description of the planning environment in which Hydro One found itself in putting together this Green Energy Plan for this case?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it's a fair description of the planning environment that was in place on April 1st.

We would have had some evolution of that in terms of how the final business plan was put together, which was the genesis of the original Green Energy Plan submission, and then of course the update contains further updates.  So things have become clearer since then.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.

The next page there in the first and second line, there is described the risk, that Hydro One risks recovery of certain pre-investments.  What is a pre-investment?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, for example, this would include things like some of the development costs that we were already expanding with respect to some of the transmission projects.  We would have been in pre-development, if you will, on some of those projects without any leave of the Board, if you will, to recover those costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  Does overbuilding -- like, building before you can actually -- there is any generation to hook up, is that something that would be classified as pre-investment?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In connection with the section 92 portion of this presentation - and Mr. Warren referred to this, in part, I think, in his examination - at the bottom of the page 6 at the top, 4 at the bottom, there is a description as follows:
"Finally, the regulatory regime and investment to enable connecting new renewables could result in significant expenditures in assets over long periods and some may not become used and useful for some time for reasons..."

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I can't quite find it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sorry.  It is on that same page that we were talking about, just starting at the bottom.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I was using the page numbers at the bottom, and I think you are going with the page numbers at the top.  Sorry.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it's the last two lines at the bottom of that page and the next line at the top of page 7.

MR. GRAHAM:  I read them, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that, to my mind, is a reference to what I call overbuilding.  I appreciate it is in the context of section 92, but it is a risk of overbuilding; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  I would, again, stress the linkage to the section 92.  We are I guess concerned about that with respect to transmission, more so than with distribution where we are looking for much more -- I shouldn't say "much more" -- more definition with respect to the generators that will connect before we build the local facilities required to connect them.

MR. THOMPSON:  At the bottom of that page - it is numbered 7 at the top, 5 at the bottom - this is -- all of this is characterized as lower planning quality.

Do you see that?
"Lower planning quality would likely lead to more frequent and larger variances from the original estimates."

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, it is in the context here of the transmission in the section 92 projects.

MR. THOMPSON:  But Mr. Warren suggested surely that applies to the whole plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, as I think I tried to lay out before, we are looking for a significant commitment from generators with respect to the distribution facilities required to connect them, so it is not the same.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What does the phrase "lower planning quality" mean?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's not my phrase.  I would imagine basically, reading the implications, they're concerned about the fact that, as you mentioned, the used and useful criteria may be somewhat less likely to be achieved for these transmission projects than was otherwise the case.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So coming back to my green impact number 4, do you agree that the faster you construct to attach renewable energy, the greater the risk of overbuilding and creating excess or idle capacity?

MR. GRAHAM:  I actually do not agree with that statement, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on to my impact number 5.

This relates to the revenue requirement impact that we were discussing earlier.  We did discuss it, and I will just read it to you:
"The external funding component of Hydro One's bills, based on the rate base revenue requirement concept, is not limited to Hydro One.  It includes all other distributors."

I think we have already agreed on that.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that fair?  Green Energy impact number 6 in my list relates to the conservation demand management component of the plan, which is -- if you look at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 and the table that has been referred to frequently, it is entitled, "Energy Conservation".

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the energy impact number 6 in our list is the more money paid for CDM, the steeper the rise in consumer bills.

MR. CURTIS:  I would disagree with that.  CDM initiatives are typically evaluated based on the offsets that consumers will gain, in terms of reduced consumption.

And so that they, in fact -- consumers, in fact, should be better off as a result of the CDM investments.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there is -- is there cost-benefit analysis in your Green Energy Plan to demonstrate that the 20 million you are forecasting in 2010 and 2011 and 60 million in 2012 to '14 is producing net benefits for consumers?

MR. CURTIS:  If I could take you to the series of interrogatory responses that we gave to Pollution Probe.  This is under H-4.  There is a series there, schedule 1 through 6, and these are consecutive years that are presented, in terms of our CDM plan, contained within our Green Energy Plan.

And just, generically, if you were to look, for example, at schedule 6, you will see that there is a table there that is titled "2011 Forecast".

MR. THOMPSON:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. CURTIS:  And you will see that there are savings columns there.  There's estimated annual savings in terms of megawatt hours, estimated savings in terms of megawatts.  And these are savings, then, that would be derived as a result of consumers reducing their consumption, in terms of energy and power, which of course then would translate into benefit back to the customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thank you for that.  I didn't understand that one.  So one of my pillars has crumbled.

MR. ROGERS:  I hope there's no double counting going on here.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you criticizing your client or me?

In any event, just to nail it down in terms of the Green Energy Plan, you are forecasting 20 million in 2010 and '11, and then for the next three years, 20 million each of those years.  But as I understand the evidence, you don't really expect the amount to be 20 million.  You expect it to be something higher?

MR. CURTIS:  As a matter of fact, that is what we filed is it would be higher than 20 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  But --

MR. CURTIS:  In each of those years.

MR. THOMPSON:  What will it be?  What is a legitimate forecast?

MR. CURTIS:  What we have assumed, in terms of our evidence, is that it will be higher than what our historical rate of investment has been, and our historical rate of investment has been a little bit below $20 million.

In terms of what the actual number will be, what we are awaiting is government direction to the Ontario Energy Board in terms of setting new targets for the various LDC utilities.

And so depending upon that, that will drive what the programs will look like and, in essence, then drive what we will ultimately come forward with in terms of programs.

So it is really -- what we are waiting for is that target-setting process to determine the amount of money that would be invested in CDM.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the Board has a role in setting those targets, as I hear what you are saying.

MR. CURTIS:  That's our understanding, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of just, again, conceptually where the money comes from, at the moment, as I understand it -- and please correct me if I'm wrong -- this money by and large comes from the OPA.

MR. CURTIS:  Well, I don't believe it comes from the OPA.

The OPA funds it through a charge that's to all customers in the province.  But, yes, it is funnelled through, if you will --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  -- through the OPA.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  The OPA pays it to Hydro One, but the OPA gets it through an external funding mechanism?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it is a straight pass-through of the costs -- these are OM&A costs, they're not capital costs?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the Act talks about a special-purpose charge.  I think it does.  And in this K2.5, if we go to page 10 at the top -- page 8 at the bottom, under the heading "conservation and demand management" -- this is, I think, Ms. Frank presenting to the board of directors -- says that:

"The Act appears to transfer conservation and demand management accountabilities of the OPA to the Ministry and to distributors, with cost recovery for CDM programs to be implemented through the global adjustment."

Can you explain how Hydro One expects that to play out?  Will the OPA be getting out of CDM?  Will it continue to have a role?  And will this be a supplement to it?  Can you help us there?

MR. CURTIS:  I'm not sure that I know anything more than, really, what's described here.

I believe the OPA will still continue to play a role in terms of conservation and demand management.

There are a number of existing programs, core programs as they're termed, by the OPA.  And I believe the expectation is that those would continue on.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is --

MR. CURTIS:  But until the direction has been defined, I think, for the industry through the directive from the government, I am speculating to some extent in terms of that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is Hydro One working with the Ministry in fleshing out this special-purpose charge aspect of the legislation?

MR. CURTIS:  I am not aware of Hydro One working with the Ministry on that charge definition.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The word on the street -- and I had mentioned this in my CME slide.  I will put it to you, and you can tell me if it's in the street or not in the street.  But it was about this special-purpose charge, and it was rumoured that they were to be about 160 million per annum, with 70 percent to be buried in gas distribution rates and the remainder in electricity rates.

Is Hydro One aware of that being a development on the horizon?

MR. CURTIS:  I am not aware of that, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I -- is Hydro One aware?  You may not be aware, Mr. Curtis, but do you know if the company is aware?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't know.  I don't believe anybody on this panel is aware of that.

MR. ROGERS:  Only those who listened in to your podcast would know that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I won't ask for an undertaking.

Thanks.  Let's move to my number 7, and this is what I call the competitive market distortion impact, that the more -- the proposition is that the more you attach renewable energy at the higher prices, the OPA agrees to pay, the greater the risk of distorting the competitive market, because the high cost paid to the renewable generators prompts them to keep running, and pay the IESO to keep running.

And so what's been happening is you've been getting, recently, negative electricity prices -- negative HOEP.  Is that an impact of the Green Energy initiatives on the bill?  Can you help us?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it's, again not generally my area of expertise, and so I think it should be taken in that light.

The negative HOEP, I think, comes from basically the base-load generation.  Most of the new renewables are not base-load generators, so they are not distorting, I don't think, the HOEP, per se.

I think the issue becomes the lower demand in the province, together with more base-load generators coming back.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you would disagree with that proposition?  It's not the renewables?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I am not the expert.  From what I know, but that's not from expertise.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

Now, I had another impact and it, again, ties back to a discussion you were having with Mr. Mondrow, and it does also relate to this Exhibit K2.5 at page 8, the cost responsibility discussion.

In the -- at the time of this report to the board of directors, April 1, 2009, this issue of cost responsibility was unclear.  That's what is said in the second line on page 8.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's fair, at that point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding is that as a result of these code amendments you were discussing with -- with Mr. Mondrow, that clarity has now been added.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  We would have updated our evidence on September 25th, which is after the kind of final notification of potential amendments from the Board, which I think came on September 11th.  They finally finalized the distribution cost allocation October 21st, but it was substantively in line with what we based our update on.

MR. THOMPSON:  The impact of that was to shift costs, if I understood your discussion with Mr. Mondrow correctly -- from generators to transmitters and/or distributors.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's how we have interpreted, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is the revenue requirement impact of that cost shift subsumed in what you have presented in the -- your Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know about the use of the word "subsumed".  It is definitely the basis, that the new cost allocation is the basis for the submission we made, as far as I'm concerned.

I believe we have updated the overall rate impact, at least, for that.  But Mr. Rogers is going to tell me I'm wrong.

MR. ROGERS:  No.  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I don't have to worry about another revenue requirement being out there that's attributable to the cost responsibility shift that's taken place; that is in the filing?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's why I had it as conditional 8, so that one comes off.

All right.  I plan to move to look at the impacts, Madam Chair.  I don't know if you are planning to break this afternoon, but I am happy to plough on.

MS. NOWINA:  I am planning to break this afternoon, but I think we can give it another 15 minutes.  How much longer are you going to be, Mr. Thompson?  I am not trying to rush you.  I just wonder for the sake of the break.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, how long have I been?

MS. NOWINA:  About an hour.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I will be my two hours, but just two.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we go another 15 minutes and then break?

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

Let's move, then, from the concepts to your plan.  And what I would like to do is take you to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, and the table that appears at the bottom of page 1.  That, as I understand it, is the Green Energy Plan, dollar-wise?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It's presented there as a subset of what I would call traditional spending plans.  Just stopping there, it --

MR. GRAHAM:  It's in one sense a subset.  It is actually a different presentation of some of the costs that are in the plan to provide the Board with information according to its new format.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are we correct that Hydro One's Green Energy Plan is prepared as a subset of what I call its traditional spending plans?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would say it was prepared as part of our traditional spending plans.  We did a business plan which looked at all spending, and the Green Energy Plan was a portrayal of particular parts of that information.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  This brings me, then, to another one of those photocopies.  It would be Exhibit K2.3.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, is that your attachment 1?

MR. THOMPSON:  It is headed up "Attachment 1, 2010-2014, Hydro One Business Plan Schedule".

MR. GRAHAM:  I've got it, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is an excerpt from H-13, tab 1, the Interrogatory No. 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I apologize to Mr. Millar not having followed his designation of the exhibit numbers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we have the same problem.

Now, this is what I call the traditional planning schedule.  This is before green energy came along.  Am I right there?  I mean the Green Energy Plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's fair enough.  This is a schedule for our overall planning process which gave rise to the Green Energy Plan, but the Green Energy Plan, as such, was not mandated, I think, at the time this was originally promulgated.

MR. THOMPSON:  In the prior cases, we've been through this process in terms of questioning you on your plan.  Big picture, it starts in November of 2008.  This would be for the -- this particular filing.

And a number of presentations are made, tests applied, and it eventually leads to, if we go on the second page, the Sunnybrook conferences, day 1 and day 2, and they're in May.  Am I correct so far?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that, in turn, then leads to a presentation to the board of directors in June, and we see that on what is page 9 at the top of this document, 5 at the bottom?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And we have the confidential materials that were presented to the Board in June in the CME No. 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right?  Okay.

Now, as I understand the evidence - and you please correct me if I'm wrong - the first submission to your board with respect to the board of directors, with respect to the Green Energy Plan, came on or about April 1?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  So, now, I think that's reasonable to assume from the evidence.  I'm not the expert in terms of all of the submissions that are made to our board.  In fact, I was in attendance at the April meeting and that was certainly a subject of discussion there, as is shown by the filings we've made.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that was -- I drew that from Exhibit K2.5, which we were discussing a moment ago, and the bill was only -- Bill 150 had first reading on February 23rd, 2009.  So am I correct that, as of November 2009, Hydro One was not into a Green Energy Plan mode?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well not, per se.  I mean, we knew green energy was a policy direction of the government and an interest of the government, and we were -- because, for example, the RESOP program, we would have been dealing with that previously.  But in terms of the Green Energy Plan filing that's made to this Board, that's probably fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  So we have the --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Just for the record, I may have misheard, but did you say November of 2009?

MR. THOMPSON:  '8.

MR. ROGERS:  2008.  I'm sorry.

MR. GRAHAM:  He may have said '9.  He meant '8 and I took '8.

MR. THOMPSON:  At least the witness and I understand our pig Latin.

In any event, between April of 2009 and June, the June presentation to the Board, do I correctly understand that a Green Energy Plan was -- as an identifiable part of the whole, was pulled together?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would have been I think discussed with the board, because it was just slightly after that we made our filing of the Green Energy Plan in the rate submission, so I would expect, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that was accelerated planning, was it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I don't know that I would talk about it being accelerated.

We were aware of many of the directions coming out of the Act.  We were aware of some of the directions the Board was pursuing.  So there was a reasonable basis with which to make a first cut at the plan.  However, as shown about our update in September, there was things that came to fruition after that that we needed to adapt to.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the update in September was -- if I understood your discussion with Mr. Mondrow correctly, was precipitated by the code amendments?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's one of the two aspects that we looked at with respect to making changes.

MR. THOMPSON:  What was the other?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe it was this allocation between province-wide and Hydro One Distribution ratepayers.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that in the original filing, where was the -- where were the costs, the revenue requirement associated to the Green Energy Plan being recovered in?  Was it in transmission or distribution rates, or in an external funding mechanism?

MR. GRAHAM:  So there was an external funding mechanism in place in the first submission in July, but it was modified with respect to the September update.

MR. THOMPSON:  Was everything in --was all of the revenue requirement related to the external funding mechanism -- sorry, related to the Green Energy Plan in June or July being recovered in the external funding mechanism?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there was an allocation in each, is that...

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

What the Board has before it is the September update?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, in that context, then, of that discussion, if you would just go to page -- again, this page 1 of Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 at lines 15 to 17.  You say:
"The spending reflected in the Plan went through the same business planning and approval process as all other investments presented in the Application."


Given this expedited process that we've been discussing, does that sentence need to be qualified?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, first off, I didn't agree with your word, use of the word "expedited", because there was significant information available through the planning process with respect to the expectations around green energy.

Certainly some of the things have come to closure after that, and there have been some adaptations made, but, generally speaking, all of the investments here went through the same process, were looked at through the Sunnybrook process you mentioned, and other process, the same way as all of the investments of the company.

MR. THOMPSON:  So did the Green Energy Plan go through all of these steps that appear in Exhibit K2.3?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, that's true.  They did.

That's in fact why we have a representation, if you look in D1-3-3 and other places.  The dollars are also captured there, because that's how they were revolved under those drivers.  The Green Energy Plan provides another portrayal of that information so that it is easier for the Board to follow it in regards to the classification the Board has put forward, but they were developed under the same drivers that all of the other business plan items were.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you for that.

Now, in terms of its presentation - and others have mentioned this - it is presented as a five-year plan.  This is on the table at the bottom of page 1 in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you have -- at least as I understood the evidence, you are requesting that the Board consider and approve all of the green energy costs.

But my understanding is that the -- from what you've said, is that for years 3, 4 and 5, those numbers are not cast in stone as far as the company is concerned?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe there was a discussion yesterday that Mr. Rogers participated in, which says that is the case and we expect to be coming back with another filing for 2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  But for the purposes of evaluating impacts, are we to take the presentation of years 3, 4 and 5 as directionally reliable?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, this is a distribution Green Energy Plan.  Hydro One as a corporation, we know, has distribution and transmission, and the transmission case has yet to be filed.

I did produce to your counsel yesterday a document with respect to the transmission side of the business.  Again, I am just trying to get the big picture here.  This was a presentation made on November 16th, 2009 by Hydro One, and it indicated that the -- up to 2.3 billion will be spent on green projects over the next three years on the transmission side of the business.

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't have that in front of me.  That is the number that was actually announced by the Ministry, though, with respect to the transmission and distribution, actually.  It is the Green Energy projects that are in the Minister's letter, which covered some distribution, as well as transmission.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that -- that is an estimate of what's going to get folded into transmission rates.  And some of that will spill down to -- well, all of it will spill down to distribution rates of --

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it will all spill down to transmission customers, some of whom only have transmission and don't have distribution.

MR. THOMPSON:  Got you.  Thank you.

All right.  I was going to move now into the costs of the plan that are shown at the bottom of the table.  This might be a convenient time to break, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that?  We will take a 15-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 2:13 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:35 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Go ahead, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Yes, panel, at the break, I was drawing your attention to this table at the bottom of page 1, and I want to ask some questions about this in the context of some of these impacts we've been discussing, conceptually, at the outset.

Just quickly looking at renewable generation, would you take, subject to check, that the capital expenditures in 2010 of 168 million, 2011 of 296 million, and the three years 2012 to 2014 of 930 million, total $1,394,000,000?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's in the right order, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The other category of the green energy activity that has capital expenditures is the smart grid, and would you take, subject to check, that the sum of the 30 million for 2010, 62 million for 2011 and 250 million for the three years 2012 to '14 is 342 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so that the grand total of capital for Hydro One built up over five years is, subject to check, $1,736,000,000?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  On the O&M front, we have, with respect to renewable generation, 3 million in 2010, 3 million in 2011, 10 in the other three years, for a total of 16?

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Under energy conservation, we have 20 million in each year for a total of 100 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And under, sorry, smart grid it is - I missed this - 10 million in each of the first two years, and 45 in the other three, for a total of 65 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you take, subject to check, that those total O&M expenditures are $181 million?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And going back to the factor of four that we mentioned in our discussion about Hydro One in proportion to other distributors -- and I accept that it may be less than four, as you've indicated in your evidence, but if we apply that factor to these numbers, would you take, subject to check, that we're looking at a buildup of what I call green energy rate base on the distribution side of close to six-point -- almost $7 million; 6.944 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  Now, Mr. Thompson, I recognize you've acknowledged my caveat, but I would like to stress that's an important caveat, because that is where we have seen the new renewable projects are, primarily, on the Hydro One system.  I think there are likely to be more generators than have applied on the LDC system under FIT.  Those may be smaller generators.

So I do have a little concern about agreeing to something that says it will be four times as big.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Again subject to the caveats, four times the 181 million on the O&M side, would you take, subject to check, is $724 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And on the capital side, to the extent the 2.3 billion that we mentioned in transmission filters through to distribution customers, if it is all going to get down to consumers, the rate base buildup, I make it, exceeds $9 billion on those assumptions.

MR. GRAHAM:  On those assumptions, I think you're correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you look at the revenue requirement that throws off in the context of Hydro One Distribution's 2010 rate base, in the order of $4.8 billion, that rate base throws off a revenue requirement in excess of $1 billion; right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I didn't follow that, but I may have missed something.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Hydro One's rate base - I have rounded it - claimed for 2010 is slightly in excess of $4.8 billion.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's our distribution rate base you are quoting?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the revenue requirement you're seeking in this case for 2010 is north of 1.1 billion?

MR. GRAHAM:  In terms of the total?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I was using that as an indicator of what a buildup of rate base of 4.8 billion is likely to produce in revenue requirement.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay?

And it is that green energy rate base for all distributors that is going to get, under your proposition, recovered partly through distribution rates and partly through the external funding mechanism?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's going to have impact on customers' bills.

Now, if we move to the revenue requirement impact of the plan for years 2010 and 2011, only, you folks have put some numbers in the record.  It is in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 24 at line 14.

You provided your calculation of the revenue requirement impact in 2010 associated with the externally funded component at 8 million and 30.7 million in 2011.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  There were two interrogatory responses that I will come to in a minute.  One was the Board Staff 151, and the other, I think, was School's 23.

So that asked you to show how you derived that number.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you recall that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I concede that, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I will come back to that in a moment.

You also gave us, in response to CME 2 - and I will come to it in a minute - what the revenue requirement impact would be if you brought all of your Green Energy Plan Initiatives into the utility.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what we see in 2010 is that the revenue requirement impact goes up 8 million, roughly.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sounds right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then in year two, under -- on that exhibit, it goes up a little over 30 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's the numbers we put forward, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  It goes up, excuse me, in 32 -- 22 million, but it is the combined effect of the 22 and the eight that produces the 30 million in your evidence?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  The 30.7 million is cumulative.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.

What I wanted to do is, just at a high level, take you through the capital expenditures and the O&M expenditures in 2010 and 2011 in the table on page 1 to give you my estimate of a full-year deficiency impact in each of those years, to confirm what I think is the situation, which is that the deficiency calculations you made in your evidence are not full-year deficiency calculations.

Is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I don't know, but normally one would expect that the capital goes in service through the year as opposed to at the start of the year, which would mean there would be a full-year impact on the next year.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  But for the purposes of my examination, I would like to look at it from a full-year basis.

I will ask you to do it by way of undertaking, but I just want to take you through the calculations that I've done to see if this is what you've done, but you've used an assumption that capital will be spent throughout the year rather than day 1, okay?

So for 2010 on the capital side, we have total capital expenditures, if we look at table -- at the bottom of page 1 of Exhibit A, tab 14, of $198 million.

MR. GRAHAM:  Funded from three pots; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Just forget about the funding.  I just want to get the revenue requirement related to this plan.

We know it's coming from different sources.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay?

MR. GRAHAM:  I know you understand the 8 and 31 is the externally funded line, and there's different numbers here, so...

MR. THOMPSON:  I understand, yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what I am trying to do is just look at this as the stand-alone revenue requirement impact of the Green Energy Plan that's presented on this page.


MR. GRAHAM:  I guess my difficulty probably comes from the generator funded, which is not a revenue requirement in any regulated sense.

It's true somebody has to pay for it.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I take your point.  But just let me take you through my calculation, and then, as I say, I will ask the company to do this correctly, because what I've done may not be correct.


I started with the 198 million capital, because the revenue requirement feature of your proposition relates to smart grid and renewable generation.


The CDM is coming through a pass-through in the -- it is just a commodity pass-through; am I right?


MR. GRAHAM:  It comes in the global adjustment mechanism, so it is not in our rates or rates for wires customers, per se.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me -- let me just do this quickly, because I know the Board is anxious to get rid of me here.

So we started with 198, and I think you're saying is that for the purposes of calculating the revenue requirement piece, we should deduct the contribution in aid, which is the 13 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's -- in terms of the overall requirement from ratepayers, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that takes it down to 185, subject to check.  Okay?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And my understanding is you then depreciated it on a 20-year basis, straight line.

MR. GRAHAM:  Only the externally funded.  So the 139 gets depreciated at 20 years.  The 46 gets depreciated at normal lives.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's -- on the assumption it's all external, it would be on 20 years?

MR. GRAHAM:  If it was all externally funded, that would be correct, but it's not.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is the calculation I'm looking for.


MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  On the assumption it is all externally funded.  So you took the depreciation at 20 years.  And then that produces a number, and you then took, as I understand it, 60 percent of the capital; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, 60 percent of what?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sixty percent is the debt component.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, our normal capital ratio would be 60 percent debt, I think, but I'm not sure how all of this was worked through, and I am not a rate-setting expert.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's --


MR. ROGERS:  Can I make a suggestion, Madam Chair?  I think where Mr. Thompson is going here, and really, if he could put this to panel 2, I think it would go a lot faster.  I don't really think Mr. Graham is really familiar with all of these regulatory constructs.  I think Mr. Thompson has got it, with great respect, a little bit wrong.  I think Mr. Van Dusen in panel 2 can go through this, because I think we know where he is going.

MS. NOWINA:  Might it be helpful, Mr. Rogers, so we don't have to go through all of the calculations here, to take the undertaking and then discuss it with panel 2?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  I mean, I think Mr. Thompson has to clarify the undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.  That would be fine.

MS. NOWINA:  But would that make sense, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that would make a great deal of sense, because that saves me to having to explain it to Mr. DeRose, which could be slower than this process.

[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  But you still do have to explain it to us, so we understand the undertaking.

MR. THOMPSON:  The undertaking, gentlemen, would be this, is to calculate a full-year revenue requirement for the capital related to renewable generation and smart grid in each of the years 2010 and 2011, on the assumption that generated funded costs are a capital contribution in aid, and that the capital is -- 60 percent of the capital is debt and 40 percent of the capital is equity, and the format would be equivalent to what is in Board Staff H, tab 1, schedule 151, page 1.


So whereas what you have there is the 8 million and the 30 million, that's with part in the utility, part out, so it's not a fully external.  And it's not full-year; it is capital being built up over the year.


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are we -- are we on the same page?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Using the depreciation rates actually used for the two different types of investments; correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit 151 is a 20-year for, as I understand it, for --


MS. NOWINA:  So you want 20-year for all of --

MR. THOMPSON:  All.  If they want -- sorry.  If you just do...


If you look at SEC 23, now, that's Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 23, that's been done there both ways: one at a 20-year for everything, and then the second way is assets are amortized over the useful life normally applied to that category of assets.


So I suppose to be -- to make it complete, do it in the format of SEC 23.

MR. ROGERS:  Very well.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you understand the undertaking, witness panel?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I think so.  I think that last caveat just doubled the work, but I think I understand it and they will do it.


MR. MILLAR:  And that's Undertaking J2.2.

MS. NOWINA:  It shouldn't double the work, I don't think, Mr. Rogers, but --


MR. GRAHAM:  Just to clarify, Mr. Thompson, number 23 shows the first revenue requirement is calculated based on, as Ms. Nowina said, 20-year for the external funded and the normal life for the internally funded, and then the other one is all at the normal life, not at the 20-year life.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's what -- what we would like to see.


MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  That makes more sense.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  And we should give that an undertaking number, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That is J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  To Calculate a full-year revenue requirement for the capital related to renewable generation and smart grid in each of the years 2010 and 2011 in the format of SEC 23


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  We have discussed that these charges are going to be recovered through the global adjustment mechanism, which brings me to a document that I circulated on Friday.  I won't be referring to very many pages in it, but it is the presentation that the IESO made to CME last week.


I hope everybody has it.  I have copies here, which I will distribute.


MR. GRAHAM:  We have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  The Board may not have it.

[Mr. Thompson passes document out to hearing room]

MS. NOWINA:  Are we going to give this an exhibit number, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit K2.5 and it is an IESO slide presentation entitled "Effective pricing in Ontario's hybrid electricity market."


MS. NOWINA:  It is late in the afternoon, Mr. Millar.  I think we have already got a K2.5.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, K2.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  IESO slide presentation entitled "Effective pricing in Ontario's hybrid electricity market."


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  The parts of it, panel, that I wanted to draw your attention to really start at slide 8, where there is a description of what is the global adjustment, and over on to page 9, it talks about factors outside of HOEP driving up -- driving GA costs upward.

Do you see that text?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then three items are mentioned as having this effect: rates paid to OPG, regulated nuclear and hydro assets increasing, some contingency support agreement for Lambton entered into by the financial corporation.


And then additional megawatts of contracted supply coming -- OPA-contracted supply coming on the last 12 months.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then if we could go over to the next page, we see the elements of the global adjustment presented in colour, and the one I am interested in is the OPA element.  And let's just look at October 2009.

And for the purpose of this discussion, let's assume that number is about $15 per megawatt.


MR. GRAHAM:  That looks right.  I am just interpreting the graph.  It looks right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we are on the same page there.  And within that, at the moment, we've got the OPA procurement costs; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not sure.  I'm guessing that's correct, but I'm not sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the other item that I am interested this is the OPA CDM costs.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I'm not sure, but that would make sense to me.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In terms of the procurement costs, based on our discussion, we would expect that to go up as more and more of this renewable supply comes on stream?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe, to the best of my ability, that that is a fair assertion.

MR. THOMPSON:  Similarly, with the CDM costs, we would expect that component to go up?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think that's subject to the processes Mr. Curtis has described.

So I think our general assumption is that there will be more work in this area, but it remains to be seen.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understood Mr. Curtis's point is, wherever it is, there is going to be a net benefit.  But in terms of the moneys flowing through for CDM, my understanding is that's likely to go up.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think Mr. Curtis testified that was our current expectation, but, again, it does remain to be seen through the processes that are still to occur.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then over and above that, we're going to have the revenue requirement piece related to externally funded capital expansion?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, to be clear - and I mentioned this to Mr. Mondrow - it's not so much the global adjustment as province-wide funding, but to your point with respect to overall customer costs, it would contribute to that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, whether it is in this adjustment or another, it's going to be an external funding mechanism that's going to add to the bill.

Now, does Hydro One have any idea where these numbers are heading?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  So how can Hydro One present to its board of directors the bill impacts of Green Energy Plans when it doesn't even do that analysis?

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding is we use the global adjustment as it is currently as opposed to using a forecast of that because, in fact, we aren't able to do a forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  So why aren't you able to do a forecast of how much is coming on, what it's likely to cost?  That would be the procurement element.

The CDM, you must have some idea of what you are going to be claiming or getting from the government, and the revenue requirement numbers, we have just been through the calculations.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, as Mr. Curtis testified, to start with CDM, we're not sure where that's going.

Secondly, with respect to procurement of new generation, we have already testified we're not quite sure what sources it will be.  We're not sure what the overall price will be for the supply.

So, no, we don't have the ability to forecast that.  It's not really - I hate to say it - our business.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, yet you've got the ability to forecast all of these Green Energy Initiatives that are pretty iffy based on the examination of others.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, that's on the understanding we have with respect to the government's direction and the direction from this Board.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's move on from that to something you have calculated in a response to an interrogatory from my client.

It is Exhibit H-13, schedule 2.  The question that we asked you is question (g).  It's on page 2.
"Please describe how a manufacturer can estimate, today, the total monthly and annual bill amount it will likely be called upon to pay in 2010 and 2011 including the amounts expected to be billed for external funding mechanisms adMinistered by the IESO and the OPA..."


Your response to that question was at page 7:
"A manufacturer can estimate their total monthly and annual bill amounts, excluding any amounts to be billed by an external funding mechanism, by referring to Exhibit G2, Tab 4, Schedule 7."

Correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says.

MR. THOMPSON:  And those percentage bill impacts shown in that exhibit are similar to the ones you present to your directors?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I suggest to you they're not total bill impacts.  They're partial bill impacts.  Would you agree?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, they're the bill impacts that go from the current basis in terms of the increments that Hydro One is proposing to make.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree with my proposition they're partial bill impacts; they're not total bill impacts?

MR. GRAHAM:  They're the best information that we can provide.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the follow-up, in the second paragraph of the response to (g), you say:
"Given the Hydro One revenue requirement to be collected via external funding, per part h) below, and using a total of 148.676 GWh of energy consumed in Ontario in 2008 (per IESO reference), the amount to be collected from all electricity consumers is estimated to be $0.05..."

It is 5 cents per kilowatt-hour in 2010 and 21 cents per kilowatt-hour in 2011.

Can you just explain to me where those numbers come from?  Does the 5 cents in some way relate to the $8 million, or do you need an undertaking?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would prefer to take an undertaking.  It sounds reasonable to me, but I don't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Could you give us the detail of how those numbers were calculated and confirm that they only relate to the Hydro One external revenue requirement proposal of the 8 million and the 30 million, or, if not, explain what they do relate to?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J2.3.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE EXPLANATION OF CALCULATIONS IN EXHIBIT H-13, SCHEDULE 2, QUESTION (g).

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, we heard a lot of testimony in the last two cases about Hydro One's -- the sensitivity of Hydro One's board of directors to bill impacts.

Do you recall that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, are they still acutely sensitive to this?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my question is:  How can they possibly consider it in this era of new green energy, when all of the impacts on the bill are not presented to them for consideration?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that the board of directors understands the directions we've got with respect to the transmission and distribution business.

They're looking at the most efficient and effective ways to carry out the direction that we have established, we believe, from the shareholder and the Ontario Energy Board, subject to these hearings.

And they're drawing on the best information that we have available.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we'll argue that, obviously.  There are two other areas I just want to quickly touch on, and these relate to the smart grid expenditures which you have had -- you have discussed with others at some length.  The other one relates to the renewable generation capital forecast.

Dealing with the smart grid issue, what's the difference between a smart grid and a smart meter?

MR. CURTIS:  There's considerable difference between the two.

The smart meter initiative is basically the installation of new meters for all the residential customers that provide additional capability in terms of communication with the customer and relaying that information back to the utility.

The smart grid, in part, extends the capability of the smart meters to better enable the utility to provide additional services to its customers.

It also improves, the smart grid, the ability for the utility to control the operation of its facilities, as well as to make more economic use of those facilities.

MR. THOMPSON:  So does it extend the smartness up wire to the distributor?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it does.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And are the two installations interrelated?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, just on the forecast, and there have been questions -- this is your capital and O&M forecast.

Do I understand correctly there is no business case for the pilot that's presented in your evidence?


MR. CURTIS:  There is a business case for the smart grid initiative within the evidence.  Yes, there is.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you just give me the reference for that?


MR. CURTIS:  I will try to do that.

It's D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and there are a number of investment summary documents that were prepared, and it's the one labelled D35, and it's entitled:  "Hydro One Distribution Investment Summary Document, smart grid."

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Are we correct that Hydro One, at the moment, doesn't have the -- doesn't know the technology -- technologies to be tested, and it won't know those before the RFP process is complete?

MR. CURTIS:  In terms of the ultimate deployment of the smart grid, that is correct.  But that's what the purpose of the RFP is for, is to provide an opportunity for Hydro One to evaluate various technologies that potentially would be part of the smart grid at its Owen Sound area.

MR. THOMPSON:  And when will the RFP process likely be complete?

MR. CURTIS:  The RFP is out on the street.  My understanding is that it would be completed toward the end of this year or in the early part of next year.

And Mr. Stevens on our panel number 3 will be available to talk about that in detail.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are we correct that you have no experience base for building up either an OM&A forecast or a capital forecast for this pilot?

MR. CURTIS:  No, I would disagree with that.

We've done, as I think we've explained in our evidence, a considerable amount of activity of examining what other jurisdictions have been doing in this regard, looking at different technologies that are available.  And as I've outlined, the whole purpose of the RFP is to provide an opportunity to evaluate, in a Hydro One context, these various technologies.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is the OM&A budget of 10 million a cap?

MR. CURTIS:  For the two years that we're looking at, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the capital budget of 30 million and 62 million, are those caps?

MR. CURTIS:  They're forecasts for both of those years.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

Just assume that the Board decides that some ratepayer protection with respect to these forecasts is appropriate, and that the options are a -- an adder-type mechanism that you've been discussing with other witnesses.  Have I used the right word, adder?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's one thing that is used in the Board's guidelines, that word, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That would be like the smart meter rider or whatever it is called, the same kind of concept?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know whether it would be like that or not.  It would be -- has potentially -- or potentially be as discussed under the Board's guidelines.

MR. THOMPSON:  Assume that is one form of consumer protection, and the other is a disallowance of some or all of the forecasts.  Which one would you prefer?

MR. CURTIS:  I think we've -- as we've stated, we've put forward a case that we believe that this is properly recovered in our current rate application.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you didn't answer my question.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, can I suggest, Mr. Struthers will be here on Thursday.  He's -- he should be dealing with these.  These are really policy questions, and Madam Chair, I would ask my friend to defer them to Mr. Struthers.  He will be dealing with this, I can assure you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  The last area, then, is renewable generation.  I have the policy-type questions, which I will postpone.

But just coming to this forecast of 3,500 megawatts of attachment, and you have been asked a lot of questions about this, but am I -- do I understand the evidence correctly, that there's no track record of attachments to support that number?

MR. CURTIS:  I disagree with that.  I believe that we pointed to the response to one of the interrogatories earlier, which was H, tab 10, schedule 5 -- I'm sorry, schedule 6.  This was a response to the Schools interrogatory.

There we have provided detailed documentation in terms of where we would -- we are, based on the CIA applications that we've received up until August the 31st of this year, where we would -- where we would see and the amounts we would see of generation that would connect to our system.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will have Mr. DeRose pursue this with -- Mr. Struthers, is it?  On deferral account adder or disallowance.

So with that, Madam Chair, I am done.  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be splitting this cross-examination with my co-counsel, Ms. Lea.  I see it is about quarter after 3:00 now.  I hope that I will be able to finish my part by 4:00 o'clock, but we certainly won't finish the whole thing, so I think unfortunately there will be some carryover until Thursday.  But we will see what we can get through.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  I assume, Mr. Rogers, the panel can be available Thursday morning?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you and good afternoon, panel.

I'd actually -- I had -- it's quite fortuitous.  I had planned to start with this very exhibit, H, 10, schedule 6.  If I could ask Mr. Thiessen to turn to the first page of that document, the question.  And here it is.  It asks for the connection requests received thus far.  Am I right that these connection requests would all be related to the RESOP program?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that question was asked before.  Generally, our understanding is that by far the preponderance of them are, but not necessarily all of them.

MR. MILLAR:  None of them would be FIT contracts; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The ones that aren't RESOP are something else?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, since the requirement of the FIT contract is that you get a CIA after a FIT contract and no FIT contract has been awarded, that could not have occurred yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Right, okay.  That's what I thought.  Thank you.  If I could ask Mr. Thiessen to go to the first page of the actual response.  Unfortunately, this is in even smaller prints on our monitors than it is in the documents itself.  But could you help me out here?  I think it would be of interest if you could, maybe just by taking a couple of examples, walk us through exactly what it is that we're looking at here.

MR. CURTIS:  Certainly.

The text at the top that is very difficult to read on the screen, is the set of assumptions and criteria that were included as far as this particular analysis is concerned.

So maybe I should start off with going through, on those.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. CURTIS:  First of all, what this does is it looks at the various supply stations that are available on our system and for connection.

And these are listed, then, in alphabetical order.

Then what we looked at was:  What was the acceptable amount of generation that could be attached at each one of the transformers that were located within each one of these stations?  And this is looking at what the reverse flow capability that would be introduced by generation attached to these stations, reverse flow meaning that the power flows in the opposite direction to what it would be flowing if it was a load that was attached.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  From that, we're able to determine the acceptable amount of generation that could be attached, and it's based on a maximum feeder loading capability of about 400 amps.

So we'll find, as you go through this, that these calculations yield different values, and that's basically based on the configuration of the station and how it is set up.

What you look at, then, in terms of this is that anything that's above the red line could be attached at this particular stage to the station.

Anything below -- the first project below the red line may or may not be able to proceed, subject to considerations in terms of its capacity or capability.

But the projects that fall below that, by and large, would not be able to be connected at this particular point in time, in terms of the capabilities at the station.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  That is very helpful.  Just if I could take, by way of an example, if you look at -- the second page I think is probably a good example, Beaverton TS.

MR. CURTIS:  Beaverton TS, that would be a very good one.

MR. MILLAR:  That is Beaverton transformer station?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you look at the columns, you see M27, M23.  Are these feeder lines to that transformer station?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  And they would each have individual, I guess, excess capacity available for hook-ups, is that --

MR. CURTIS:  That's what the calculation would yield, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the different lines, the different Ms, would have different capacity left.  In some of them the request for connections have exceeded that.  Others it hasn't.  Is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's how this is meant to be read?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.  If I could add, for the station as a whole, one of the capacity limits -- actually, a couple of them reflect the transmission limit at the transmission station.  So the transformer size and short circuit level would relate to the station as a whole.

So although a feeder may not filled, the transformer station may be.

MR. MILLAR:  So is there a red line somewhere for that?  Is that reflected in this document or is that a separate --

MR. GRAHAM:  I think if you look at the capacity of all of the projects that have been accepted vis-a-vis the total capacity --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- it's not there, but, effectively, I believe, for example, that Beaverton TS is fully subscribed in terms of its capability as a TS.

MR. MILLAR:  Even though 23, for example, doesn't --

MR. GRAHAM:  It shows no red line because all three projects on the feeder are capable of being connected.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood, okay.  I got you.  This is a fairly comprehensive document, so thank you for filing this.  So this would include every single request for connection that you've received as of August, I think you said?

MR. CURTIS:  As of that date, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the parties wishing to connect, they're not identified by name, of course, but they are identified by number, I guess?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We've had a number of questions from parties -- let me ask you this.

You have indicated that your assumptions for the Green Energy Plan that you have filed, for example, your assumptions on how much renewable generation is going to be connected, are based largely on your experience with the RESOP program; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this essentially the data that you would be relying on?

MR. CURTIS:  This is certainly one cut of that data, yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, people have asked you for some additional information - I think Mr. Mondrow perhaps earlier today, and maybe some others - asking that you provide I guess additional data on the RESOP, on who has applied for what under RESOP.

Aside from the fact that the names of the actual generators are not included in this document, does this not more or less have all of the information -- have all of that type of information?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't know that you specifically referred him to this document.  In hindsight, might you have done so?

MR. CURTIS:  I think I probably should have, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That was just my reading of it, and I thought maybe -- this does seem to include most of that information.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Let me ask you one more thing on how this sort of feeds into the Green Energy Plan.

Your estimate, for example, of 3,500 megawatts up to 2011 under the Green Energy Plan, is that based on the number of connection requests you received, or is it based on the 94 megawatts that have actually come into service, or some combination of the two?

MR. CURTIS:  It is based on all of the CIAs that we have done, and we've gone through a process of assessing each one of those in terms of, first of all, what the transmission level capability is to transfer the power; then on the basis of what the distribution -- our distribution system is capable of in terms of connection; and then, finally, in terms of an assessment about the readiness of each one of the proponents in terms of proceeding with their connection.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't have a -- I take it some judgment was involved in this extrapolation?  You don't have a mathematical formula that spat out 3,500 megawatts.  This had some judgment on your part?

MR. CURTIS:  That latter portion of it is the judgment aspect.

MR. MILLAR:  The latter portion being those who apply, but don't ultimately connect?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  It is in terms of evaluating what their -- I think the popular term rate at the moment of shovel readiness is.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. CURTIS:  How prepared they are to go ahead right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Many of the questions I have intended to ask have already been asked by others, so I do apologize if this seems to jump around a little bit.  I tried to group everything in appropriate places.

A question that I think was asked, but I am not sure we got a complete answer to it, was -- in fact, Board Staff asked this in IR -- Staff IR 146.  I don't know that you need to pull it up.

We asked you if you could break down the 3,500 megawatts of renewable generation between 2010 and 2011.  I don't think you answered that question in the IR.

I know some other people asked some questions around that, but are you able to give us a more or less firm estimate of how much of the 3,500 megawatts is anticipated to be connected to the grid in 2010?

MR. CURTIS:  I believe so.

I think, in terms of testimony that we have given earlier on, that we have a total in 2010 of approximately 1200 megawatts.  Then the difference, which would be 2300 megawatts, would be in 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  And this is a figure or close to a figure you discussed with Mr. Warren yesterday; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So it includes the -- I believe it was 540 megawatts for RESOP?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it does.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I just wanted to confirm that.

Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, I believe page 11?  There is a table 3 there.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I'm there.

MR. MILLAR:  Here you show -- I guess they're anticipated generation connections for 2010 and 2011.

If I could ask, first of all, we see 132 under 2010 for mid-size generators.

Would these all be FIT?  I guess these would include the RESOP?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, they would.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to give a breakdown, even if it is approximate?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe actually that yesterday I said about 60, and I said I would come back with the exact number and I didn't.  It is 60, 60 projects contracted under RESOP that we expect to connect in 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Are the rest FIT?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would assume -- that's the assumption, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If not the rest, then 99 percent of them?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

We see under 2009 for mid-size generators 60 connections.  Presumably that was a mix of actuals and forecast when you prepared the application.

Are you able to tell me how many connections there have been to date for 2009?

MR. SALT:  Eleven to date.

MR. MILLAR:  Eleven?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not sure.  Do you know what date that was as of, Mr. Salt?

MR. SALT:  It was like two weeks ago.

MR. GRAHAM:  So fairly recent.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you anticipating there will be 49 more before the end of the year?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't suppose you have a guess on what the actuals might be for this year?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think at this point we're debating internally between 18 and 20 projects total.

MR. MILLAR:  Why has the actual number not matched the forecast?  Is it because some projects have been delayed, or is it because some have been rescinded, or a combination of the two?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think - and I am speculating here, because of course it is up to the generators what goes forward - is that because of the RESOP hiatus, and then the formation and the eventual promulgation or enactment of the FIT program, which took a little longer than expected, that has delayed these projects going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  So these would have all been RESOP connections?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would have been the assumption at the time, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could ask you to skip ahead a couple of pages, just to page 14 of 24 on the same exhibit, there is a table 4.  Do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You show the total capital costs for 2010 and 2011, and I see mid-size generation connections, you have some numbers there, 83 and 145 million.

If you just skip back to page 11 of that exhibit, I note that there are also, in addition to mid-size generation connections, you have got a couple of large ones in each of the test years, and also 30 small ones in the test years.  But I don't see any corresponding capital budget associated with those connections.  Could you help me out with that?

MR. SALT:  It is included in -- it is included in "other", other generation connections work.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Am I right that the small ones might largely be those micro-FIT connections, or are we talking -- or are those something separate?

MR. SALT:  No.  That's something separate.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I just wanted to clarify that.

Just to -- I know you have fielded a lot of questions about this 3,500 megawatt forecast, and I don't want to beat the horse any more than I have to, but just -- just a couple of more questions on that.  We've discussed, I guess, your forecasting methodology and how you used your experiences with RESOP to feed into what you thought might happen under the -- under the FIT program, I guess, and going forward.

We've already discussed that the applications for FIT were due last week, I believe, and hopefully shortly we'll have a number released by the OPA as to the number of applications, but in terms of knowing how many of those are ultimately, I guess, accepted or executed, we won't know that for a little while.  Is that -- that's correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So when you did this forecast, I mean 3,500 is a round number.  I take it, as we discussed before, this isn't formula driven.  It's -- it is a forecast, so I take it you rounded up or down or you came, you know, you thought it might be around 34 -- maybe you can tell me.3,500 is a round number, so I assume you don't anticipate that to be precisely the amount that's connected?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.  This is the forecast number, the expected level that we expect to connect.

MR. MILLAR:  And when you were preparing the forecast, did you come up with a range of possibilities, or did you land on a single number?

MR. CURTIS:  We landed on a single number.

MR. MILLAR:  So you didn't come up with a range?

MR. CURTIS:  No, we did not.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's say ultimately, then -- let me ask you this.  Could the system handle more than 3,500 megawatts?  I guess you -- you're in charge of distribution, but if it was higher than 3,500, could you actually even do that, considering, for example, transmission constraints?

MR. GRAHAM:  It would really depend where the projects were located.  If they were in the centre of the province near the load centre in the GTA, potentially there could be room for even significantly more.

If they are all located in these transmission-constrained zones, there is not much more room.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Until the transmission constraints are alleviated.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Okay, I am going to shift gears a little bit here.  We have already discussed your estimates for renewable generation hook-ups for 2010 and 2011, the numbers you anticipate, which I heard to be about 1,200 in year 1 and 2,300 in year 2.

And we've already discussed that 540 of that related to RESOP programs, RESOP contracts that will be hooked up, presumably, in 2010.

Would there be any RESOP in 2011?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's always possible.  I don't think our forecasting and -- you know, anticipates any generators from RESOP taking that long to connect.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay?  So probably not but --

MR. GRAHAM:  Probably not.

MR. MILLAR:  -- possibly?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  When came up with the 540 megawatts for RESOP in 2010, when did you arrive at that estimate?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I am passing along the latest information I've got from the people we have dealing with the generators, and that's their estimate of those actually in the process, not only have a RESOP contract but are actually in the process of scheduling their connection work.


MR. MILLAR:  They're actually scheduled.

Okay.  Would you agree with me that the FIT program is essentially replacing the RESOP program?  Is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Upgrading.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But RESOP is not being continued?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, it is already -- yes, it's gone.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the FIT, the tariffs offered under the FIT program are more generous than those offered under RESOP?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that parties that -- that have been approved for a RESOP contract, I guess, are going to be given some sort of option of switching to the FIT program.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  If they are willing to meet some conditions, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And if they do that, there are conditions, one of them being, I guess, that any CCA is rescinded; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is the case for most projects.  I think if some -- if a project actually has its construction of its connection underway under a CCA, they don't have to rescind that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And also they would have to get back into the queue; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  They would have to get a capacity allocation, to use the Board's terminology.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.

Do we know yet how many of the RESOP folks have elected to go to the FIT program?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do not know that, no.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you know when we will know?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would expect in general that would be understandable from the applications as opposed to the contracts.  Now, I'm not sure exactly when the OPA will have confirmed its analysis of those items.  But it is an application item; it is not a contractual item.

MR. MILLAR:  By that, do you mean sooner rather than later?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sooner rather than later, yes, is what I mean.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So do you know, for example, if the 540 megawatts in RESOP contracts that you anticipates for 2010 being hooked up, you don't know for sure that they may in fact elect to go under the FIT contract; is that possible?

MR. GRAHAM:  They may.  I think that this will be essentially a risk-management decision for the generators.  They would have to be pretty sure of getting a FIT contract if they're spending money already on their connection, for example.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you don't know, I guess?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is certainly possible some of them may elect to --

MR. GRAHAM:  It's possible yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if that were to happen, would you -- maybe you don't.  Would they still be likely to connect in 2010 if they were to --

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.  These would be some of the projects I talked about in terms of FIT projects that would be ready, basically in-flight -- if you can use that terminology -- ready to connect as soon as they get -- they may need a -- buy a CIA, depending on whether the order of generators changes or not in the capacity allocation.

But as soon as they have that done, they would be ready to go.

MR. MILLAR:  It would depend on a number of factors, wouldn't it?  I guess we --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  -- we can speculate that many of them would, but, I guess, depending on the capacity allocation, some might not; is that possible?

MR. GRAHAM:  There is all sort of potential variation in the process; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So did you specifically account for this when you did your 2010 forecast, or -- or not?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we basically assumed that those people would be ready to go forward either under RESOP or FIT, and to the extent they changed to FIT, it would be because they had made a judgment that they were very sure they could get a FIT contract and be ready to go.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So either under RESOP or FIT, you're assuming 540 megawatts will go forward in 2010 --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- under that category.  Okay, thank you.

Okay.  Sticking with the FIT program, you discussed earlier -- I think with Mr. Warren, but I can't recall exactly -- that the number -- the number of FIT contract applications will be released shortly by the OPA, you anticipate?

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding, and this is from the OPA, is that come next week they will be ready to provide some information with respect to that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And we also discussed that that's just a list of who applied, essentially, or the number of applications.  The number of contracts that are actually executed, I guess, if I could put it that way, won't be known until sometime in the new year; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  I would -- just when you talked about the number of applications, it's the number of verified applications, so they will go through a process of verifying they have come up with the security and the various other things have been met.

MR. MILLAR:  They have to tick off all of the appropriate boxes.  Right.  But again, when we know who has been accepted, that will be sometime in the new year, I heard?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And what is your best information as to when that might be?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I believe it is earlier rather than later in the new year, but that is in the OPA's hands.

MR. MILLAR:  Does "earlier" mean January or March or -

MR. GRAHAM:  I would tend to say January/February.  And it may -- I don't think all of the contracts will necessarily occur at once.  It may occur over time.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay.  So early 2010 is your best -- your best guess?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sometime, I tend to believe, in the first couple of months.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Would you agree with me that the information that's provided by the OPA as to exactly how many contracts they're accepting -- would you agree with me that that would be helpful in preparing your forecast for how many megawatts are likely to hook up in 2010 and 2011?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it will be useful in verifying our forecast, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you say verification, but it might actually -- "verifies" assumes the 3,500 is accurate.  It might lead to changes in your forecast; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is always possible.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, in fact, this would be very valuable information for you to have; is that fair to say?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, obviously the more certainty we could have with respect to the forecast, the better.

MR. MILLAR:  Will that information released by the OPA also give you better information on where these generators are located?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think specifically Mr. Curtis has already testified a number of times with respect to zonally we feel fairly confident, but in terms of specific stations and where on the feeders, et cetera, from those stations is less -- it depends on which projects go forward.

MR. MILLAR:  And the information released by the OPA early in 2010, that will include the actual physical location of all of the generators?

MR. GRAHAM:  The generators who have bid and expected to get a contract in this first round would have had to bid based on a connection point, which would give you the exact location, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That information, I take it, would be helpful for you not just in the number of megawatts that are going to connect, but I take it there are other -- when you are planning your system enhancements, it is obviously helpful to know exactly where the connection points are going to be; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  That might impact the cost, as well, depending on where they are?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it's possible.  I think, in general, we expect that in the areas of interest, we will see the limits that we talked about previously being subscribed by one project or another.  So the need to do the REIs on the station and do some expansions, and so on, will be there.  It can vary somewhat depending on where they are locating.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to suggest something to you, and I have a good idea what your answer is going to be, but I am going to put it to you, anyway.

I am going to suggest to you that -- would it be prudent to recast -- to wait for the release of this data and recast your assumptions - maybe it is verify, maybe it is adjust your assumptions - both on the number of megawatts to be connected, and, in fact the costs that may arise from those, depending on different -- knowing the exact locations?

Would that not be a prudent thing to do?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think it would be fair to say it would be perhaps more exact.  But I think we believe our forecast is quite reasonable, and there is a significant basis of experience and understanding that goes into it.

MR. MILLAR:  Would your forecast be better if we waited for that information?  Would you have more confidence in your forecast if you had the information?

MR. GRAHAM:  It would be more accurate, likely.  But, again, I mean, the process that we undergo with respect to the various programs put forward to the Board, there is always elements that change.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Ups and downs.  We have shown historically we're able to spend the distribution funds that we have been allocated by the Board on appropriate investments.

We feel comfortable with this forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  To be fair to you, maybe I will give you a chance to explain.  Would there be a downside to waiting?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think I've talked about this before.  The downside to waiting comes -- I guess I don't know what the mechanism is going to be, so perhaps with a mechanism -- I'm not sure what it's going to be, but there is an issue with respect to the funding of our investments that the CFO is going -- Mr. Struthers, I believe he asked me to call him, will talk to panel 2.  I will leave it at that, Mr. Curtis.

MR. CURTIS:  I think --

MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead.

MR. CURTIS:  I think one other aspect is that this FIT program has been announced on a very aggressive schedule motivated by government direction.

And if we are sitting around waiting till better numbers come along, then our concern is going to be that we're not prepared to address our side of the equation.  
Our side is to be able to connect these facilities as they come forward, and that's really why we're before the Board at this particular time.

This is the best opportunity and the best timing for us to have this plan approved so that we can, in fact, respond to the large number of generators that we are expecting are going to come out of the FIT program.

Delay I think, from our perspective, would mean that we would jeopardize our ability to connect these generators as they come forward.

MR. MILLAR:  I agree with you that it is always a balancing act, and, whenever you are dealing with forecasts sometimes you have to say good enough is good enough.  That's the nature of a forecast, I suppose.

If these figures are released in January, say, before the hearing is over, before the oral portion of the hearing is over, and imagine it's not 3,500 megawatts, it is 4,500 megawatts, would you plan on filing an update and perhaps seeking more capital to hook those up?

I know that is a hypothetical.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think our general expectation is that, no, we would not be filing an update for that purpose.  We are willing to accept the risk, given that we are pretty confident in our forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  Similarly, if it was 1,500 instead of 3,500, would you be proposing any updates?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, at this point, we don't anticipate that kind of variance.  So we are, again, not anticipating filing an update, because we don't expect it to be that different.

MR. MILLAR:  If there was a big variance - I know this is a hypothetical - is there a variance that would cause you to file an update?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if this could be directed to Mr. Struthers.  This is really a policy question.

It is a very difficult question to answer.  I think if there was a major material change, the company would reassess the situation, but it doesn't anticipate one.  I don't know that these witnesses are prepared to say, if it was 30 percent out or 50 percent out or...

There are many variables that go into these cases.  They're all interconnected, as you know.

MR. MILLAR:  I am happy to leave it at that certainly with this panel.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

One final question on this point.

I know you've got a fair amount of capital going into renewable generation.  And my understanding is much of this capital isn't necessarily tied to specific projects, because you're not necessarily sure where all of these projects may go.

I think I will get into that in a little bit more detail as -- maybe Ms. Lea later.  But just a quick overview question on that.

Am I correct that you don't plan to actually build many of these assets, for lack of a better word, until you actually know where the generation is?  You are not going to start building up the system before knowing where the connection points are, perhaps with a few exceptions?

I know some of them are general improvements, but generally -- for example, these six feeders, you're not going to build the six feeders until you know where the connections are; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  I think the expansions are very closely tied to the applications, and even the REI investments will be in the realm of understanding where the applications are before we go forward on most of them.

MR. MILLAR:  Which I think -- I will get into this a little bit more, or maybe Ms. Lea, but that is one of the reasons we don't have a lot of specific project information; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You might have more of that information after the OPA releases its information in January?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's true.  We will.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Just give me a moment.  I crossed off a bunch of things.

Okay, I have a series of questions.  I'm not sure you're the right panel for these, so I may actually break the rules of cross-examination by telling you my point before I actually ask the question, only because I don't want to waste everybody's time.

First, can I ask you to turn to page 17 of the Green Energy Plan, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2?

If you look at line 17 there it states:
"The following criteria is proposed for assessing the benefits that Expansion work will provide to Hydro One Distribution customers..."

Then the first one is asset replacement.  If you read that first sentence, in the brackets there it says "e.g. replacement of aged wood poles".

I've got a bunch -- not a bunch, but several questions about what is going to happen to those poles if they can be reused for the salvage value, things like that.  Are you the people to ask those questions about, or is that for panel 2 or 3, or even perhaps for the panel in January?

MR. SALT:  I think -- ask your questions.  I think panel 3 is in the best position to answer what we do with - for recycling or disposal of surplus equipment or poles that are of no value, as far as holding wires up.

But I may be able to answer your questions, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will start it, and if you are the wrong guy, then I will come back to this.  I can easily ask this of panel 3.


I take it what you're discussing here, this passage that I just read, you are calculating, if I can put it that way, a benefit to Hydro One customers by early replacement of certain poles; is that right?

MR. SALT:  The way -- I was heavily involved in this aspect, and the way I looked at it was, considering the amount of work we're doing, money we are spending in the Green Energy Plan, how would we go about determining what benefit to existing customers there is from these expenditures?

And the two areas that I landed on for pole line construction -- and most -- most of the expansion expenditures are on pole line expansions or extensions.  And the main -- the two main areas are replacement of existing poles, and just a quick comment on that.

These poles are poles that have tested, and for the majority of them, they're still used and useful.  They -- there is no intention to replace them at this point in time.  But we know that at some point in time -- and we can predict that fairly accurately -- they will have to be replaced.  And we use age, but the age is just a quick method of estimating when they will fail testing as useful poles.

And so we, you know, as the evidence indicated, we submitted our study, and basically it is a present-worth study of replacing asset in the future and what the benefit is of that, of replacing it now.

The second part is -- or the other area we identified that looked like we had an area of benefit is that some of these projects that we build will alleviate problems that we might have in the future.  And I can't say that -- where they are, or what specific problem they will be fixing.  But we know that sooner or later, one of them will stumble on something that is of use to us.

And the way we estimated that was we used what we -- what we considered to be a long-term growth rate.  Now, it's not, you know, the short-term, the effective CDM and that kind of stuff.  This is like:  How many feeders over the next 40 years may run into a problem, and what's the probability that some of these investments are going to address that?

And so that was the nature of the calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are assuming that because of -- I take it what is going to happen is there will be certain distribution lines that, because of renewable energy investment or something like that, you will replace before the end of their useful lives.  Is that fair?

MR. SALT:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've calculated a benefit based on the assumption that these lines -- there may be other things, but just to keep this simple in my head -- these lines, since they're being replaced now, won't have to be replaced in 10 years when they otherwise would have had to have been replaced.  Is that --

MR. SALT:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that the point?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 7?

There is a table, table 4.1, entitled:  "Summary of priority 1 ACA results."

MR. SALT:  Could you please give us that reference again?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course.  Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 7.

MR. SALT:  Mm-hmm.  We have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I look here, I take it this is -- I am not sure exactly ACA is.  I take it it is some sort of asset assessment?

MR. SALT:  Assessment condition assessment.  It is a generic process, but we apply it to, for example, transformers, poles, vegetation, right-of-ways.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And in fact, if we look at poles here, it looks to me like they're in pretty good condition generally.  Would you agree with that?  93 percent are either good or very good?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it that at least some of these poles, doubtless some in the good or very good condition, are going to be removed from service because of the Green Energy Plan?

MR. SALT:  Some of them, yes.  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  And are you able to place a dollar value on that?  Maybe I could ask it a different way.

What are you going to do with those poles, the poles that are not at the end of their useful life, once you pull them out of the ground because of a GA -- a GEP investment?

MR. SALT:  I would ask panel 3, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You made me go through all that now.

MR. SALT:  I do not know.  I can speculate, but they will know the exact answer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I figured that might be the result.  Maybe it is best we just move on.

Okay, thank you.

Okay.  Moving to a new area, could I ask you to pull up ISD D29, which is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and then you have -- I believe you have all of the ISDs there, but this is number 29.

Again, that is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And I'm just --

MR. CURTIS:  This is -- this is different than the one on our screen at the moment.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  This is S.  I meant D29.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, this looks to be it.  Thank you.

First, just for my benefit and I guess for the benefit of those listening in at home, what is an ISD?  You have got a whole slew of them in your application.  Could you give me the 30-word summary of what an ISD is?

MR. CURTIS:  Certainly.  This is called an ISD or an Investment Summary Document, and this is a summary of the business case that was developed in terms of our business planning process, and that went through the detailed review and scrutiny that we've talked about before as part of our business planning process.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I looked at a number of these and I picked this one not exactly at random, but I guess some -- as an illustration of the way that these things are written.

If you look at the -- I guess the last paragraph above "Results", it states:

"This investment is to fund the proactive modification of the distribution system in alignment with clusters of generation connection applications and interest.  Proposed funding during 2010 and 2011 is expected to resulted in approximately 12 new breaker positions, 360 circuit kilometres of new express feeders, 30 kilometres of feeder upgrades, and six distribution station capacity upgrades."

Do you see that?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we discussed these types of investments a little bit earlier.  I take it if I were to give you a map of the Ontario -- or, pardon me, the Hydro One distribution network and a map of the -- overlaid over a map of the province, you wouldn't be able to show me where the -- the 12 new breaker positions are; is that correct?  Not exactly?  You couldn't draw them on the map?

MR. SALT:  I can show you half them.

And half of those -- six are the enabler TSes, and I believe we've actually settled on where three of them are likely to be.  And they're in the earlier years.  So I could tell you where they are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't actually want --

MR. SALT:  The other six are just an estimate of what is likely to occur.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that is sort of what we were discussing earlier; until you know exactly where the connections may be, it is hard to show us exactly where you are going to put those things.

MR. SALT:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And would that also be true of the 360 circuit kilometres of express feeders?  You don't know precisely are where those will be?

MR. SALT:  Well, again, 150 kilometres of that are the express feeder or the enabler TS feeders.  So we know which ones, where they are, you know, approximately.  But the rest, we wouldn't be able to say exactly where they are.

MR. MILLAR:  How about the 30 kilometres of feeder upgrades?

MR. SALT:  We wouldn't be able to say exactly where they are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And how about the six distribution station capacity upgrades?

MR. SALT:  That would be the same case.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  By the "same" you mean you don't know where they are?

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thanks.

Now, you state that -- under "Need" at the top, you state:

"This investment is required to proactively install new breaker positions."

Do you see that?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you describe for me what you mean by "proactively"?

MR. SALT:  I thought you might say that.  I think that -- that it isn't characterized correctly.  I think maybe our thinking has evolved a little bit since this was written.  But we're not going to proceed on the basis of "build and they will come."

It will be -- we will have to have customers in hand that would justify the expenditure.

MR. MILLAR:  This gets back to a question I asked earlier; is that right?  That you are not going to build things, really in anticipation of customers --

MR. SALT:  right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- you are going to build based on more or less confirmed demand?

MR. SALT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if I had a number of questions asking if you were overbuilding in anticipation of things coming, the answer to that would be "no"?

MR. SALT:  Another way to look at it is I think we're going to be so busy we couldn't possibly do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So everything you build will be used and useful, essentially as soon as -- as soon as it is built.  Is that fair to say?


MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I see we are at 4 o'clock right now.  I understand we have to end at more or less 4:00.  I am going to be moving into a new area.  I think this might be an appropriate time to break, if that is acceptable to the Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  How much longer are you going to be, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  It will be more than five or ten minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  Just for planning for Thursday, how long will you and Ms. Lea be together?

MS. LEA:  I am hoping my questions will not exceed 45 minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  If we put you together, it will be an hour, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  An hour.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then why don't we wait until Thursday morning and do it then?

Therefore, we are adjourned for today.  Thank you very much, panel.  Sorry you have to come back.

MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, could I just speak to a matter before we break, and that is with respect to Mr. DeRose coming Thursday.

Could I possibly tell him he can stand down with respect to panel 1 to the bottom of the list, just to give him some time to get up to speed?  I know he would be the only one that would, I think, take the Board into camera, so that might be another reason just to put him at the bottom of the list.

MS. NOWINA:  Put him on the bottom of the list of panel 2?

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel 2.  Sorry, I said panel 1.

MS. NOWINA:  He would be the last one.  I don't have an issue with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We are adjourned.

--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 3:57 p.m.
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